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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I will read an

          3  opening statement. This is a joint hearing of the

          4  Committee on General Welfare and Women's Issues on

          5  subsidized child care.

          6                 Welcome, friends and colleagues. As

          7  you know, the Committee on Women's Issues and

          8  General Welfare has been looking at the issue of

          9  subsidized child care for awhile now.

         10                 This is a complicated issue with a

         11  long history. This is also an issue that has a

         12  direct bearing on the ability of working parents to

         13  fully participate in the economy.

         14                 As you have heard, today we will

         15  recite, revisit issues related to unused child care

         16  slots, and the supplantation of City child care

         17  funds, look at the impact of the transfer of

         18  school-aged child care from ACS to DYCD, and look at

         19  the transfer of eligibility determinations for ACS

         20  to HRA.

         21                 We hope to get more clear answers to

         22  the state of child care funding and the impact of

         23  these policy shifts of the child care availability

         24  in New York.

         25                 Today our first witness, of course,
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          2  will be the esteemed member of our administration,

          3  that would be you, Commissioner. Commissioner

          4  William Bell. And his Deputy Commissioner is here as

          5  well, Harvey Newman, and we'll have a statement from

          6  him as we begin to hear from all those present.

          7                 Commissioner, welcome.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you,

          9  Chairman Boyland, Chairperson Boyland I should say.

         10  To Chair DeBlasio, in his absence, to the members of

         11  the General Welfare and Women's Issues Committee,

         12  it's a pleasure to have the opportunity to continue

         13  our ongoing conversations with you in today's

         14  subject matter of subsidized child care in New York

         15  City.

         16                 I've provided you with both the

         17  written testimony, as well as a document that

         18  contains graphs that will give you some background

         19  information on where we are with the status of

         20  subsidized child care, and our first portion of this

         21  conversation would be to refer you to the document

         22  with the charts and we can just go through some

         23  brief background information prior to getting into

         24  the majority of the testimony.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND:  We will follow
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          2  you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Beginning with the

          4  chart that talks about total enrollment by age, what

          5  you will see reflected is that we currently have an

          6  enrollment of over 58,000 children who are broken

          7  into three categories, basically by age, the first

          8  being infant toddler, the second being pre-school,

          9  which is the largest portion, and the third category

         10  and the second largest portion being school age.

         11                 We also, with the following chart,

         12  have a description of how the families break down in

         13  terms of the eligibility category, and obviously our

         14  largest percent of our families are low-income

         15  working families, followed by protective and

         16  preventive cases, welfare to work, and the

         17  distinction in terms of welfare to work is that once

         18  the families have gone through that first year post

         19  HRA child care, they then transition into the larger

         20  pool of child care within ACS. Illness and

         21  incapacitation of parents looking for work and then

         22  non-ACS social service referrals, which is another

         23  small category.

         24                 We then look at the poverty level or

         25  the relationship of families to the federal poverty
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          2  level, which is the next slot, and it shows you

          3  clearly that 94 percent of the families that we

          4  serve are at or below 200 percent of the federal

          5  poverty level, and then there's a very small

          6  percentage that is actually above 200 percent of the

          7  poverty level, which exceeds requirements of both

          8  federal and state regulation.

          9                 Enrollment then looking at the

         10  setting, we deliver child care in center-based

         11  contracted settings and you can see that that's the

         12  largest percentage of where our child care is

         13  actually delivered.

         14                 And then there is center-based by

         15  voucher, which is families that choose child care in

         16  a non-ACS contracted center-based program. Then

         17  there is family day care which is contracted in

         18  connection with our centers, family day care

         19  vouchers and then informal care.

         20                 The final two charts we will come

         21  back to later, but I'll now return to the written

         22  testimony.

         23                 While continuing to provide quality

         24  child care services to thousands of families in New

         25  York City, ACS has also been examining the issues of
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          2  under-enrollment and waiting lists.

          3                 As a result, ACS has identified

          4  systemic changes that will greatly improve

          5  performance and increase utilization.

          6                 There are many factors that affect

          7  enrollment and utilization, and ACS has developed a

          8  comprehensive plan to increase enrollment in

          9  under-utilized programs.

         10                 This comprehensive plan requires

         11  cooperation and shared responsibilities between ACS,

         12  child care providers and the parents themselves.

         13                 First and foremost, ACS must lead the

         14  way to increased utilization by improving its own

         15  processes and procedures.

         16                 One of the first steps in this

         17  improvement is the creation of a uniform certified

         18  wait list, that can be accurately and easily tracked

         19  systemwide.

         20                 Improved data entry and

         21  administrative procedures will increase the

         22  timeliness and consistency of the child care data,

         23  including the waiting list and vacancy reports.

         24                 I have instructed child care managers

         25  to concentrate their energies on reducing the
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          2  vacancy levels by connecting wait listed parents

          3  with child care providers that have vacant slots.

          4                 To achieve this, ACS is currently

          5  taking the following actions: Staff are making

          6  telephone calls in the evenings to families who are

          7  on the waiting list for programs with vacancies, in

          8  order to facilitate moving them towards full

          9  enrollment.

         10                 ACS is working with the agencies who

         11  have vacancies to increase their enrollment

         12  capacity.

         13                 ACS is also creating a list of

         14  vacancies by community district, in an effort to

         15  enroll families currently waiting for slots in fully

         16  enrolled programs into nearby programs that have

         17  vacancies. And ACS is ensuring that new families

         18  requesting child care are informed of the programs

         19  with vacancies and families interested in those

         20  programs that are currently under-utilized would

         21  receive an eligibility appointment within three to

         22  five days of their initial contact with ACS.

         23                 In terms of looking at the movement

         24  of a slot from being a vacant slot to being a fully

         25  enrolled slot, there are a couple of stages that
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          2  that slot goes through before it is fully enrolled.

          3                 It is first a vacant slot meaning

          4  that no child has been assigned for that particular

          5  slot.

          6                 The second step in that process is

          7  what we call a reserved slot or a reservation, which

          8  means that a parent has been identified, a child has

          9  been identified, and that slot has been assigned to

         10  that child, but before that slot can be considered

         11  fully enrolled, the parent has to complete a medical

         12  form and other paperwork before the child can

         13  actually be placed in that day care center.

         14                 Once that slot is considered

         15  reserved, it is no longer justifiably called a

         16  vacant slot, because it is now off line to anybody

         17  else who may need child care.

         18                 And the last two charts in the

         19  document that I gave you as handouts, actually takes

         20  a look at three things. The current certified wait

         21  list and the progress that we've made in reducing

         22  that certified wait list, and a certified wait list

         23  is essentially a wait list where people on this list

         24  have gone through the eligibility requirements and

         25  have been deemed eligible for child care, and the
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          2  other chart will look at the vacancies in the

          3  system, and the reservations in the system. And, so,

          4  if you look at the chart, "Certified Wait List for

          5  ACS Contracted Child Care," what you see is that as

          6  of November 13th, 2003, there were 5,438 children on

          7  a certified wait list for either family child care

          8  or for a group child care, and the Chart is divided

          9  into those two categories, as to how those numbers

         10  break out.

         11                 What you will also see is that each

         12  week since that time period we've made progress in

         13  actually reducing the number of children on a

         14  certified wait list by, as I said earlier,

         15  connecting them to vacant slots in the system.

         16                 The second chart, or the final chart

         17  in the handout that you have now shows you two

         18  things, which is, a picture on each of these dates

         19  of the total number of children, total number of

         20  vacancies in the system on those dates, and the

         21  number of children who have reservations for slots

         22  on those same dates. And as you can see, there's

         23  well over 3,300 children who have been assigned to

         24  slots but who have not yet moved into those slots

         25  due to the lack of the paperwork and the medical
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          2  examinations being done.

          3                 Moving forward, ACS will contact all

          4  families who are on the reservation list to expedite

          5  their enrollment. The reservation list, as I've

          6  said, contains children who, but for their medical

          7  exams and other paperwork, have been deemed eligible

          8  for placement in a day care slot.

          9                 To expedite the movement of families

         10  from the waiting list, to the reservation list in

         11  full enrollment, ACS is going to implement a time

         12  limit for holding a reserved slot, and that time

         13  limit will be 45 days. So, essentially this is

         14  speaking to the partnership that I spoke about that

         15  must exist between us and the parents themselves who

         16  were seeking child care. By essentially indicating

         17  that there's a time-limited reservation being made

         18  for 45 days, it creates an opportunity for us after

         19  a 45-day period to work with the families to ensure

         20  that either they are still interested in getting

         21  this child in a slot, and there is some justifiable

         22  reason as to why that slot has not been filled, or

         23  we can move that slot on to someone else who is

         24  currently on the waiting list for that slot.

         25                 As you can see from the documentation

                                                            13

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  that we have here, we've been able to reduce the

          3  number of vacancies in programs by 17 percent since

          4  November 13th, which is the time when we really

          5  started to create our new focus. We've decreased the

          6  number of vacancies by over 480 vacancies, and at

          7  the same time, we've also been able to decrease the

          8  number of children who are on the certified wait

          9  list for slots in child care by ten percent or by

         10  over 576 people on the certified wait list.

         11                 The ACS improvement strategy

         12  recognizes the importance of this partnership

         13  between community-based child care providers, ACS

         14  and the parents themselves, and we are furthering

         15  this process by creating a relationship with the

         16  providers where they will be given continuously

         17  updated certified wait lists for the program, and

         18  not only for their programs, but also for the

         19  programs that are -- wait lists for people seeking

         20  programs in their zip codes, which we would then

         21  work with the agency to expedite their efforts

         22  around enrolling parents who are interested in child

         23  care. And we believe that the end result of this

         24  will be a continual movement toward 100 percent

         25  utilization of child care slots.
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          2                 Part of the work in terms of

          3  stream-lining the process in administrative

          4  efficiencies has also been our collaboration with

          5  3-1-1.

          6                 ACS and 3-1-1 are working more

          7  closely to improve customer service to citizens

          8  seeking subsidized child care.

          9                 Over the past month, ACS has

         10  transitioned its information and referral office to

         11  handle all calls about ACS's child care programs,

         12  rather than having the families refer to the

         13  resource areas.

         14                 In addition, the information

         15  available directly through 3-1-1, has been increased

         16  and improved.

         17                 As a result, all calls currently

         18  received by 3-1-1 regarding subsidized child care

         19  are either handled directly by 3-1-1, are

         20  transferred to the I&R office, which is fully

         21  staffed in order to handle all issues raised by the

         22  callers.

         23                 This change have reduced the number

         24  of transfers of callers and ensures that all calls

         25  are answered in a timely manner.
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          2                 The I&R staff schedule appointments

          3  to determine eligibility, they provider general

          4  information to the caller, and they create

          5  individualized information packages to be sent to

          6  callers with information about subsidized child care

          7  and available programs in specific communities.

          8                 The I&R staff are currently provided

          9  with a list of child care programs with vacancies on

         10  a weekly basis.

         11                 Callers who ask about specific

         12  under-enrolled child care programs will be given an

         13  eligibility appointment within three to five dates

         14  of the date of their phone call.

         15                 In addition, we are currently in the

         16  process of enhancing the ability of 3-1-1 even

         17  further by creating a system that will allow the

         18  3-1-1 call-taker to collect all of the information

         19  necessary to determine if the caller meets the

         20  minimal requirement for eligibility.

         21                 At the completion of each 3-1-1 call,

         22  the 3-1-1 system will allow call-takers to inform

         23  the client they have indeed met the basic

         24  eligibility requirements for subsidized child care,

         25  and all that information would then be forwarded on
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          2  to the eligibility staff to complete the process.

          3                 This new process is expected to

          4  greatly improve and expedite the ability of the City

          5  to determine eligibility for child care services,

          6  while also providing a reliable system to track the

          7  response of each caller and ensure an accurate and

          8  up-to-date waiting list.

          9                 Consistent with Mayor Bloomberg's

         10  focus on improving administrative efficiencies, and

         11  streamlining services, there is a broad

         12  restructuring of social services on the way that

         13  include the transfer of programs for school-age

         14  children currently administered by ACS to the

         15  Department of Youth and Community Development.

         16                 The operation of School-Age Services

         17  by DYCD is intended to achieve better coordination

         18  of school-age service options for families while

         19  ensuring continuity of services to participants.

         20                 This is understandably a large

         21  undertaking. We're working on the logistics of this

         22  transfer and have set multi-phased goals. And in

         23  essence there are three phases of this work and the

         24  first phase would be to transfer from ACS to DYCD

         25  those programs that are school-age only, and that
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          2  includes 11 agencies and 19 sites, and this transfer

          3  will not reduce the amount of money that is

          4  currently being spent on these programs and

          5  services, they will be transferred intact without

          6  any reduction. And this first phase is expected to

          7  occur in January of '04. That would be the only

          8  transfer of sites that are anticipated prior to the

          9  completion of further analysis around what is the

         10  most appropriate type of model to use for after

         11  school programs.

         12                 As I said, the vision of the Mayor is

         13  to create the most comprehensive model for

         14  school-age programs and services. So, following this

         15  first phase of the transfer of school-age only

         16  programs, the second phase would be continuing to

         17  complete the analysis that grew out of the summit,

         18  the out-of-school-time summit that was recently

         19  held. And the expectation is that that analysis will

         20  be completed some time in the spring of 2004, and

         21  then the final phase would obviously be the

         22  implementation of whatever models are created as a

         23  result of that analysis, and there's currently not a

         24  date set for the implementation of the models that

         25  are going to come out.
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          2                 So, in terms of the movement, there

          3  is no longer a movement to reduce the amount of

          4  spending for after school programs, and there is no

          5  longer a movement to transfer the programs, except

          6  for this first wave until we've completed a very

          7  thorough analysis and engaging all stakeholders in

          8  the conversation about what is the most appropriate

          9  approach to delivering out-of-school-time services

         10  to children in New York City.

         11                 Another reorganization that is in

         12  progress concerns the child care eligibility

         13  determination process. The eligibility determination

         14  function will be transferred from ACS to the Human

         15  Resources Administration.

         16                 Consolidating all child care

         17  eligibility determinations under one agency is

         18  expected to make service provision easier and more

         19  efficient for the families.

         20                 We expect the transfer of

         21  responsibilities to take place in January of 2004,

         22  and that the workers who were being transferred from

         23  ACS to HRA, which totals approximately 65 employees,

         24  would not move from their current sites in the

         25  resource areas, but would be maintained in those
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          2  locations, which would minimize any potential

          3  disruption or confusion for the families who are

          4  seeking to be determined eligible for child care.

          5                 As you can see, the City is moving

          6  diligently to improve the child care system and is

          7  undertaking many initiatives to enhance our

          8  capability to provide quality services to families,

          9  and who need child care services.

         10                 This completes the balance of my

         11  written testimony, but let me also speak to an issue

         12  that I'm sure is a concern for both committees which

         13  is the question of the increase in the block grant

         14  funds and what is the proposed utilization of that

         15  increase.

         16                 As has been discussed, and I'm sure

         17  that the information is available, and I've

         18  testified to this in previous hearings, that you

         19  have to look at the utilization of block grant money

         20  in two contexts. One, the state fiscal year, which

         21  are not consistent with the City's fiscal year.

         22                 So, the allocations from the state

         23  are made based on state fiscal years, but they are

         24  programmed into the City's programs in City fiscal

         25  years. And, so, if you look at the block grant
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          2  allocations on the State fiscal year, in State

          3  Fiscal Year 2002 and 2003, the allocation was 415

          4  million. In State fiscal year 2003 and 2004, the

          5  allocation increase of 480 million, which would

          6  produce an increase of $65 million.

          7                 When you look at the City's budgeted

          8  amounts and its spending amount for each of those

          9  fiscal years, City Fiscal Year 2003 was initially

         10  budgeted to spend 415 million that was allocated;

         11  however, there was an increase in spending because

         12  of an increase in need for public assistance

         13  families of about $20 million, and so we actually

         14  spent $435 million in block grant funds for City's

         15  fiscal year 2003, which means that when you look at

         16  this 480 million that is in State Fiscal Year 2003

         17  and 2004, 20 million of that went to City fiscal

         18  year 2003 spending, which made our total spending in

         19  block grant funds for 2003 $435 million, which in

         20  turn left $460 million for Fiscal Year 2004.

         21                 The next step then in terms of

         22  spending that $460 million is covering the cost that

         23  roll forward from Fiscal Year 2003, which is $435

         24  million.

         25                 When you allocate out of the 460 to
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          2  cover the cost of the 435, it then leaves $25

          3  million that is available for additional utilization

          4  in City Fiscal Year 2004.

          5                 Our current projection of need above

          6  and beyond the 435 actually totals about $40

          7  million, and that includes a projected increase in

          8  PA child care needs of about $10 million. That

          9  includes a projected increase in the market rate of

         10  about $5 million, that includes $17 million

         11  associated with the after school transition and the

         12  eligibility transition, and $8 million that is

         13  projected for shortfalls in the contract agency

         14  expenditures.

         15                 And, so, in essence, in looking at

         16  the amount of increase in the block grant, and how

         17  it is currently being utilized in the City's Fiscal

         18  Year '04 budget, it clearly shows that we are

         19  spending it, and in fact there is a deficit of need

         20  of about $15 million.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Commissioner,

         22  are you finished?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm finished, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Okay. First let

         25  me start by introducing our colleagues that have
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          2  joined us. Council Member Gentile, welcome. Council

          3  Member Monserrate, and Council Member Gale Brewer,

          4  as well as my co-chair, Council Member from

          5  Brooklyn, we have quite a crew today, Bill DeBlasio.

          6                 Commissioner, first let me ask a few

          7  questions and then I'll turn it over to my co-chair.

          8                 There's been some recommendations in

          9  order to address the problem of vacant child care

         10  slots around the City. The report issued by the City

         11  Comptroller's Office made several recommendations,

         12  including hiring more staff, producing a uniformed

         13  set of guidelines for individual centers Citywide on

         14  enrollment procedures making the ten percent

         15  recommended overall enrollment in actuality and

         16  improving communications with HRA.

         17                 What is the agency's response to the

         18  recommendations? Which of the recommendation changes

         19  are being implemented? You mentioned a few, but you

         20  didn't talk about in terms of staff.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: With respect to

         22  staff, we are in the process of looking at any

         23  staffing needs that exist within ACD.

         24                 As I indicated, the I&R Unit has been

         25  a change in terms of how we deal with the
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          2  communications with the general public, and we have

          3  ensured that the staffing in that particular unit

          4  has been increased, and we're currently looking at

          5  any additional staffing needs that may be required

          6  to carry out the plan that I've just articulated.

          7                 With regard to communications with

          8  HRA, the transfer of eligibility, the conversations

          9  we've been having with 3-1-1 are all a part of the

         10  City's increased communication between all parties

         11  that are engaged in ensuring that we reach 100

         12  percent utilization of our child care slots.

         13                 And the communication also, though,

         14  has to extend to the contract providers as well.

         15                 In establishing clear guidelines,

         16  what I articulated here is the basis for the

         17  guidelines that we've laid out as to how we will

         18  move forward in improving utilization of child care.

         19                 One of the points, though, that I

         20  would want to add with respect to the Comptroller's

         21  report, audit report. The audit report suggested

         22  that based on the under-utilization in the child

         23  care centers that the City was in fact overspending

         24  for monies where slots were not being utilized, and

         25  from a purely simplistic point of view that says
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          2  here is the average cost per slot, here is how many

          3  vacant slots, here is the amount of money so

          4  therefore there must be overspending or not so

          5  prudent spending, I think that what was missed from

          6  that perspective is that when you look at a child

          7  care facility, there are certain fixed

          8  infrastructure costs that are required. If you have

          9  a classroom that is 15 that is maximum size, there

         10  are certain costs even if that classroom is at 12 or

         11  10 that you will still have to expend in order to

         12  serve those 12 or 10 children that are actually in

         13  that class.

         14                 And, so, there are certain costs out

         15  of that basic cost structure that cannot be recouped

         16  if you're going to run an effective program.

         17                 However, what was not discussed in

         18  that report, is that ACS has been recouping funds

         19  that have not been spent on child care services from

         20  the contract agencies, and dating back from Fiscal

         21  Year '94, coming through Fiscal Year 2001 and going

         22  through what we project to have recouped by the end

         23  of this current fiscal year, we project that over $9

         24  million would have been recouped in terms of unspent

         25  funds for the delivery of child care.
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          2                 So, we believe that from a fiscal

          3  perspective that we do have a system that is

          4  fiscally prudent in terms of how the monies are

          5  being spent. And I think the recommendations around

          6  looking at the staffing, recommendations around

          7  ensuring that there are consistent guidelines around

          8  how do we get slots filled, which I've just

          9  described and working to improve the communications

         10  between all of the stakeholders, not just ACS and

         11  HRA, but the centers and the parents themselves, is

         12  something that we have in place and that we're

         13  moving forward with. And we do believe that when you

         14  look at the reduction in the number of vacancies in

         15  the system from November 13th to December 2nd, it

         16  clearly shows that we're heading in the right

         17  direction.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: The numbers are

         19  reflecting that but the real issue is manpower

         20  needed, meaning how many people is actually working

         21  on this issue, versus the vacancy of the child care

         22  slots. Obviously there is a need.

         23                 Your chart states that on November

         24  13th of 2003 the waiting list was 5,438. Others

         25  would argue there's a difference between your
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          2  waiting list and children that actually need child

          3  care from the 50,000 that possibly couldn't get to

          4  this chart at some point.

          5                 So, the question again is, what is

          6  your staffing right now versus, and then we'll talk

          7  about the child care slots available; how many

          8  people do you actually have on staff to deal with?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I can get

         10  back to you and give you the exact number. I think

         11  what I'm saying, Chair Boyland, is that we are in

         12  the process of actually doing the analysis to say

         13  how many additional employees do we need in order to

         14  make this a reality, and making that judgment as to

         15  how many people we need to bring on board, and I can

         16  get back to you with information that talks about

         17  that analysis and what we project we will do with

         18  regard to staffing in this particular area going

         19  forward.

         20                 And you're absolutely right, the need

         21  for child care, based on the existing waiting list

         22  in the City, far exceeds the number of slots that we

         23  actually have available, and it is very -- it is

         24  very important for us as a system to make sure that

         25  every available slot that we have actually has a
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          2  child in it, and that's exactly what this plan is

          3  intended to do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Okay, there has

          5  obviously been a reduction. You've been moving

          6  forward with the staff that you have, the 17 percent

          7  reduction is what you named.

          8                 Let's talk about the process. You

          9  said that there was a 45-day waiting list, and if a

         10  child had come forth with the necessary medical and

         11  those things that they were able to move forward, is

         12  that an actual number? Is it actually a little

         13  longer than that? Can you clarify?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, up until

         15  this point of us putting this plan in place, while

         16  it was allowable to set a time frame for how long

         17  someone could remain on a reserved slot, it was not

         18  enforced.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: So it's not a

         20  realistic number?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It is a realistic

         22  number in terms of what we believe is possible to

         23  enforce.

         24                 It is something that is a part of

         25  this plan that we're implementing now, and
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          2  therefore, going forward it will be something that

          3  will be in place as an enforceable number, and

          4  essentially we are working on identifying who the

          5  actual individuals are who are on the reservation

          6  list right now for particular centers, and then

          7  looking at how long they've had a slot reserved and

          8  having conversations with them about either moving

          9  into that slot or releasing that slot so that

         10  someone else on the waiting list can actually move

         11  in.

         12                 And I've talked about the certified

         13  wait list, and I just wanted to be clear that I'm

         14  not attempting to evade the fact that there is a

         15  much larger wait list than the 5,400 I'm talking

         16  about.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Right.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The certified wait

         19  list is essentially the list of people who have been

         20  deemed eligible, who are waiting for a slot in one

         21  of our contractor programs, either center-based or

         22  family day care, and that's the 5,400 number that we

         23  talked about.

         24                 In addition to that, there are 4,800,

         25  over 4,800 individuals who are on a certified, or
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          2  actually over 8,000 individuals who are on a

          3  certified voucher waiting list, and there are an

          4  additional 23,600 individuals who are on a

          5  non-certified voucher waiting list.

          6                 And, so, essentially, as I've said,

          7  there are more people currently certified to being

          8  eligible for day care than we actually have slots.

          9                 Our work both aggressively over the

         10  next few months is going to be focused on how do we

         11  make sure that people who have already been

         12  certified as eligible actually get into the vacant

         13  slots that we have so that we can bring the system

         14  to this fullest possible level of utilization.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I'm going to

         16  follow-up with a few questions, but I want to give

         17  my colleagues and my co-chair an opportunity to ask

         18  you some questions, and then we'll go into the issue

         19  of financing and the community block grant and some

         20  issues with OMB.

         21                 Co-Chair DeBlasio.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         23  much, Chair Boyland. I want to thank you once again

         24  for your leadership on child care issues and so many

         25  other issues, and I always am happy when our two
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          2  committees sit together and work on this issue. And

          3  I'd also like to put double pressure on the

          4  Commissioner in that way, but always with a

          5  collegial spirit.

          6                 I just want to say I want to

          7  apologize for my lateness. I want to thank my fellow

          8  chair for having started the hearing. Because there

          9  are so many people who have questions on these

         10  topics, I want to defer to a couple of my

         11  colleagues.

         12                 I know Gale Brewer, who is on the

         13  General Welfare Committee, has a question, and I

         14  also want to mention that Hiram Monserrate, who is

         15  the author of one of the resolutions that is the

         16  reason for this hearing, and I want to thank him

         17  also for his advocacy, has questions. I'd like to

         18  defer my questions til a little later and turn to

         19  Council Member Brewer and Council Member Monserrate.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much. I appreciate your leadership on this issue.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And I have a

         24  couple of questions, mostly on the 3-1-1 to start

         25  with. As I think Harvey knows, I have spent a lot of
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          2  time certainly with 3-1-1 and as the Chair of

          3  Technology, visiting and talking to the Commissioner

          4  of DoITT, and I think it has lots of potential. But

          5  one of the issues that's not just in the child care,

          6  but in immigration or other places of human services

          7  is the issue of how does our 3-1-1 system coordinate

          8  with the information and referral systems that

          9  already exist?

         10                 And of course, Child Care, Inc., has

         11  one, you have one that I know you're probably

         12  leaving some people at ACS and then sending some

         13  people over to 3-1-1 and training those who are at

         14  3-1-1 in your very complicated issues. Because you

         15  are not a pothole, you are real human beings with

         16  lots of challenges when they call.

         17                 So, how are you integrating with

         18  non-profit information and referrals? And how are

         19  you deciding, you know, what kind of software, what

         20  kind of process is figuring where the vacancies are,

         21  plugging that into 3-1-1, how is this system really

         22  working?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, first of

         24  all, in terms of the coordination of information

         25  referral, what we've tried to do is to say to
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          2  anybody in the City who may be interested in

          3  receiving subsidized child care, that the number for

          4  them to call is 3-1-1. And, so, that's the

          5  information that we would anticipate, even other

          6  information referral banks out there basically

          7  ensuring that anybody who wants this service makes

          8  their first call to 3-1-1.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, let me

         10  just stop you for a minute.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Say, for

         13  instance, just think about the public now and not

         14  just ACS.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Say, for

         17  instance, you're not eligible for subsidized child

         18  care. You call 3-1-1. What happens, are you told

         19  that you can't be helped, or are you referred to at

         20  Child Care, Inc., or something else that you could

         21  be helped with?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I think

         23  that's a further step in the plan and absolutely --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But it needs

         25  to be thought of, because Gino has told me that he's
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          2  not going to deal with that.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I absolutely hear

          4  what you're saying, and what I'm saying is that --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's not your

          6  problem, but it's the public's problem.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I would see it as

          8  my issue and concern as well.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Because it's not

         11  just enough for me to have staff say to someone

         12  you're not eligible for our service --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good-bye.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- It's also

         15  important for me for them to be directed in a place

         16  they might be helped.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: My guess is

         18  now they're not.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I appreciate you

         20  raising it, and it's something we will incorporate

         21  into our ongoing planning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So then the

         23  other question is, I know you've outlined some of

         24  these processes that are going to happen, but is

         25  there an ability for a person at ACS or even at
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          2  3-1-1 now to know -- is there a database that lists

          3  all the vacancies?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes. The database

          5  that we're currently using right now is called ACES,

          6  and it is housed within HRA but ACS has access to

          7  it, and it is a database that is designed to record

          8  vacancies, to record reserve slots and to record all

          9  of those who are actually receiving child care

         10  services, and so we produce reports from this system

         11  that speak to the level of enrollment, that speaks

         12  to the level of utilization.

         13                 And we're in the process of refining

         14  that technology to ensure that we have the most

         15  accurate data possible, but right now, in terms of

         16  managing the system, ACES is a system we're using to

         17  manage this process, and as the numbers that I've

         18  spoken about here, in terms of what the vacancy

         19  level is systemwide, how many people are on

         20  reservations for slots, that's information that has

         21  been generated from ACES; however, ACES could use

         22  some replatforming and updating, and that's a part

         23  of what we're working on at this point.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         25                 So, if a parent calls 3-1-1 and they

                                                            35

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  live in the Bronx, that 3-1-1 operator does what

          3  with their request?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: If a parent calls

          5  3-1-1 and that parent says I'm calling from the

          6  Bronx and I'm interested in child care, 3-1-1

          7  initially takes some basic information from the

          8  parents to get to that point of what is it that is

          9  needed for follow-up.

         10                 That call then gets passed on to the

         11  ACS I&R group --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Who are fully

         14  equipped to handle all of the concerns that are

         15  needed that can be handled by ACS.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Essentially what

         18  we've done with this relationship with 3-1-1 is to

         19  reduce the number of handoffs that any caller will

         20  get.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Prior to this the

         23  caller could have gone to as many as four places

         24  before actually being helped. This means now that

         25  either all of your needs can be met at the 3-1-1
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          2  level, or at most your needs will be met once you

          3  get to the ACS I&R level.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          5                 How does the child care center in the

          6  Bronx tell somebody that they have a vacancy?

          7                 Is it done technologically? Is it

          8  done by a phone call? How does one know that there's

          9  a vacancy there, technologically?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right now we can

         11  tell anybody who is in contact with ACS where the

         12  vacancies are in the system based on the ACES report

         13  that I've talked about, but each individual center

         14  also knows that it has a vacancy, and, so, part of

         15  what we are working on, when I talk about the

         16  partnership that is required between centers and

         17  ACS, is that we want to equip all centers with an

         18  up-to-date wait list of who is actually waiting for

         19  a slot in their center, so that they can anticipate

         20  the vacancies, because the centers are the best

         21  places for this information to be communicated.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Are they all

         23  wired to be able to do that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The wiring aspect

         25  of computerizing some of our programs is work that
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          2  we're going to have to do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right now, with a

          5  hard copy document that gets transmitted to them,

          6  they are in a position to manage their inflow into

          7  centers and part of what we will be doing going

          8  forward, as we've completed this process of

          9  transferring eligibility determinations to HRA, what

         10  will be remaining in ACS will be an enrollment

         11  staff, and the focus of the enrollment staff will be

         12  to provide technical assistance to the day care

         13  centers themselves and to work on ensuring that we

         14  can actually meet this 45-day reservation time frame

         15  that we're talking about, as well as making sure

         16  that centers evolve to a place where they view

         17  themselves as getting people in and delivering of

         18  community-based services.

         19                 If you look at any for-profit child

         20  care center, their bread and butter is on having a

         21  full enrollment, so they make certain efforts to

         22  make sure that whenever they can anticipate a

         23  vacancy coming, they've got someone ready to step

         24  into that vacancy once it arrives.

         25                 What we're moving towards is having a
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          2  system of publicly-funded child care in the City,

          3  for each of our providers has that same perspective,

          4  and so we do have the capacity to say here are the

          5  five people who are waiting for your slots, we've

          6  now got to work with those centers so that they are

          7  contacting those people in advance of vacancies and

          8  having a child ready to step in as soon as that

          9  vacancy becomes available.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         11  question I have, I know there are others and maybe

         12  we could come back, Madam and Mr. Co-Chair, is that

         13  when you talked about the $15 million deficit that

         14  is anticipated, and I think some of it was called

         15  shortfalls for contracts, and is that which we're

         16  talking about in terms of salary issues?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, that's

         18  looking at all of our expenditures that we project

         19  our contract agencies will have, and right now our

         20  projection is that there will be a need for an

         21  additional $8 million --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Eight-million

         23  dollars for shortfalls for contracts, okay.

         24                 Thank you. And I'll come back later,

         25  if it's okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Brewer. We've also been joined by

          4  Council Member Stewart. Council Member Serrano,

          5  welcome. Council Member Gonzalez, and Council Member

          6  Diana Reyna. I think Council Member Monserrate has

          7  questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 I want to also thank Chairman

         11  DeBlasio for getting the resolution that I

         12  introduced for the hearing. I want to thank you

         13  publicly. And Mr. Commissioner, good afternoon.

         14                 I think I have a couple of questions,

         15  I think I need some clarity with respect to the

         16  block grant monies, the CCDBG funds. You testified

         17  earlier that it was in fact 480 million; is that

         18  correct?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So the

         21  original, I think we were looking at some numbers

         22  that had 440 and that there was a discrepancy. You

         23  have testified to the fact that it was 480 million.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That when you look

         25  at the allocation at the state fiscal year level,
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          2  that if you look at State Fiscal Year 2002 and 2003,

          3  the allocation was $415 million, and when you look

          4  at State Fiscal Year 2003 and 2004, the allocation

          5  was $480 million, which would show a net difference

          6  of $65 million.

          7                 When you then translate that into the

          8  City fiscal year, in terms of actual block grant

          9  spending, because the State fiscal years cross over

         10  City fiscal years, and we can only program those

         11  dollars into the City fiscal year time frame.

         12                 In Fiscal Year 2003, the City's

         13  allocation was $415 million for block grant

         14  spending. We actually spent $435 million of block

         15  grant eligible spending, so when you start with that

         16  480, 20 million comes off the top and goes and it

         17  applies to City Fiscal Year 2003, which would put

         18  our spending at 435. That leaves 460 million to be

         19  programmed for City Fiscal Year 2004.

         20                 The expenditures for that 460 million

         21  is first you've got to cover your ongoing cost of

         22  $435 million, when you subtract that 435 from the

         23  60, it leaves $25 million available for additional

         24  programming, and the items that I listed, I'm not

         25  sure if you were here, so I can repeat them if you'd
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          2  like me to, which actually totals $40 million of

          3  projected additional cost, is where that $25 million

          4  is being applied.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: You're

          6  saying there's still going to be --

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: As we currently

          8  project, our current projections still suggest that

          9  there is a need for an additional $15 million.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Fifteen

         11  million dollars?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay,

         14  thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: To reiterate,

         16  you said in your testimony that there was $460

         17  million in the CCBG funding available for Fiscal

         18  Year '04.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: But the City's

         21  budget documents that only included 440 million in

         22  the fund, what happened to the other 20 million, can

         23  you name it?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: As I'm saying, the

         25  City's budget, as adopted, had a spot for $400
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          2  million for the '04 budget. When the State's LCM

          3  came down --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Not 440, 400.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. The initial

          6  budget adopted was 400. When the additional funds

          7  came down and the LCM add 480, the City then had to

          8  program that money from the State fiscal year into

          9  City fiscal year, and the final numbers, as I have

         10  them from OMB, are that $20 million out of that 480

         11  went to cover costs that we overspent on block grant

         12  eligible services in Fiscal Year '03, leaving a

         13  remainder of $460 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Can you define

         15  cover costs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: They're services

         17  to children. They're the block grant eligible

         18  services to children, which talks about, as I said,

         19  the increase in public assistance need for child

         20  care is what the cost went to, and so there was 20

         21  million additional cost in terms of public

         22  assistance child care that went into '03 and was

         23  baselined coming into '04.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: My co-chair has

         25  a follow-up question on the 20 million.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Tracy and I,

          3  we're usually pretty good with math, so we're having

          4  some confusion here.

          5                 You said the additional 20 million

          6  costs, you mean beyond your budget?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm saying that we

          8  were projecting to spend 415 million for Fiscal Year

          9  '03, when in fact the eligible block grant service

         10  that we claimed in that year was $435 million, and

         11  that cost was based on a higher than anticipated

         12  need for public assistance-related child care.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So you went

         14  over-budget?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. And let

         17  me understand, the public assistance-related child

         18  care, that's only on your budget? That's not on HRA

         19  as well?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That is HRA.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That is HRA.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The numbers that

         23  I'm speaking about are the total City-wide dollars.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The HRA child

         25  care budget goes over by 20 million in Fiscal '03,
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          2  and the additional, and we're all agreeing there was

          3  some additional state and federal funding, and

          4  you're saying that 20 million of that additional

          5  funding got sucked up into the 20 million need at

          6  HRA.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I'm saying

          8  that the relationship between the State fiscal year,

          9  which is when the money comes from the state.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: And how they are

         12  programmed in the City, which is in City fiscal

         13  years, the monies come in and they overlap two City

         14  fiscal years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I don't want to

         16  confuse this further.

         17                 So, you're saying in '03, that

         18  concluded on June 30th, that you had 20 million

         19  additional was necessary to cover the HRA side. Now,

         20  what other surplus funds beyond what we anticipated

         21  from the state and federal governments came in?

         22                 So far we've identified that 20

         23  million additional and federal funds were available,

         24  you said they went to a valid need at HRA, what

         25  other additional beyond expectation, beyond budget
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          2  state and federal funds came in?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That's the

          4  remaining 60 million.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. So,

          6  there's 20 plus 60.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The 480 means that

          8  you got 80 million -- our adopted budget showed $400

          9  million.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: For block grant --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

         13  interrupt on purpose, because try and follow our

         14  line because we're going to make it simpler. You

         15  know your numbers so well that you're losing us

         16  quickly.

         17                 So, we're going to go in small steps.

         18  Twenty million. Now, here's 60 million more to

         19  figure out. I'm going to just call it surplus for

         20  the sake of clarity --

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: -- That's more

         23  than anticipated. So the 60 million now in addition

         24  to federal and state funds; breakdown where that has

         25  gone or has been targeted to go.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

          3                 So, if you look at the cost of

          4  operation right now Citywide, which is $435 million.

          5  That's what we spent in Fiscal Year '03, and so the

          6  anticipation is we will need at least that much to

          7  stay at the same place in Fiscal Year '04.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So the 60

          9  million is going to go for unmet '04 needs?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The $460 million

         11  is the pot. My current spending is 435 million,

         12  which is what I've spent in Fiscal Year '03 --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         14  interrupt you again. You know I like you but you've

         15  got to come to us in terms of the numbers, so just

         16  follow me. I'm talking just City.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We now have

         19  said for '03, there was 20 million in surplus

         20  federal and state funds that went to handle the HRA

         21  child care needs, the unanticipated needs for '03.

         22  That's really clear, because we think in terms of

         23  '03 budget and '04 budget, HRA and ACS.

         24                 Now, the other 60 million, and I just

         25  want you to answer in these bite-size pieces, the
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          2  other 60 million that we got extra money, if you

          3  will, surplus money state and federal, break down

          4  where it went or where you're planning to spend it.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just in City

          7  budget terms.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I'm only

          9  speaking in City budget terms.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. It's the

         11  only language we speak.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         13                 So, in speaking in City budget terms,

         14  in order to spend the 480 million for Fiscal Year

         15  '04, and it's 480 million, 20 million comes off the

         16  top, because it had to go to make up the shortfall

         17  in '03.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: So it leaves me at

         20  460 million.

         21                 My beginning tab in order to run, in

         22  order to provide the same level of service in Fiscal

         23  Year '04, that I provided in Fiscal Year '03, it's

         24  going to cost me $435 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. So,
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          2  what's the difference? Say it again, the difference

          3  between '03 and '04, in dollars?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's 435 coming

          5  out of 460.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. So,

          7  you're saying that 25 million --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Is the difference.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is needed for

         10  '04, more than was needed for '03 to keep

         11  consistent levels of service. Am I missing this? Did

         12  I hear that right?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: No. I'm saying

         14  that --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Say it in my

         16  terms.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That if you simply

         18  look at what was made available to us by the state

         19  for our use in these two fiscal years, it was 4480

         20  million. If you back up and say what did we have,

         21  what did we spend in the prior fiscal year, it was

         22  $435 million, but I only had 415 allocated. So, you

         23  take the 20 from the 480 --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're good at

         25  the 20, it's the next 60 that we're confused about.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm at 435 now.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right, go

          4  from there. Go from there.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I've got $460

          6  million left. I've got to first pay that price tag

          7  of 4435 million in order to provide that same level

          8  of service in Fiscal Year '04 --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you've got

         10  to be able to, Commissioner, with total respect, if

         11  a service costs X in '03, and then it costs Y in

         12  '04, because of inflation or changing needs, or

         13  whatever, that's fine, we understand that, can you

         14  put it in those terms? Was there a dollar increase

         15  need from '03 to '04 for some objective reason?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: And what I'm

         17  saying is that the 435 is exactly what I spent in

         18  '03 and what's left is $25 million.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But

         20  respectfully, you're beginning to sound like a

         21  lawyer, and I'd hate to accuse you of that, why are

         22  you not able to say that there was -- it sounds like

         23  you are saying there was a greater dollar need to

         24  keep the same level of service.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I said that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The $20 million --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We did that.

          5  The remaining 60. Let me term it another way. We've

          6  talked before, I have said to you, with all due

          7  respect, the previous Administration supplanted all

          8  over the place that we believed if not a formal and

          9  absolute and total violation of federal law, that it

         10  was this close, and that it was certainly not in the

         11  spirit of the federal law. And you may remember our

         12  first hearing on this about a year or more ago we

         13  had one of the folks who was in the room when the

         14  federal law was developed around the child care

         15  block grant who confirmed that supplantation was

         16  absolutely inappropriate and that when money was

         17  supposed to come in to increase the supply to child

         18  care, as it says in the federal statute, that that

         19  was the entire concept.

         20                 So, we confirmed also, because we

         21  asked you 20 different questions, which you artfully

         22  gave broad answers to, I'm saying that with respect,

         23  and it was clear that in fact supplantation had

         24  occurred, but that the Administration, the previous

         25  and the current, did not regard it as illegal. And
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          2  let's say we can have a respectful disagreement on

          3  the legality question.

          4                 So, now here we are. I would

          5  understand what you have to do, what anybody would

          6  have to do when they testify to be protective of

          7  their agency and their administration, and that's

          8  understandable, but this is a simpler matter. This

          9  is the money you actually spent in '03 and the money

         10  you have budgeted for '04. So, if $80 million fell

         11  from the sky, from the federal government, the state

         12  government, you didn't expect, and 20 million net

         13  unanticipated needs at HRA for Child Care,

         14  absolutely understandable, respect that, that's a

         15  good thing, that's actually in theory some version

         16  of additional supply of child care, so that's good;

         17  where did the other 60 million go, or where do you

         18  plan to send it?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: And what I'm

         20  saying is that the $60 million is going to pay for a

         21  continuing -- a portion is paying for a continuing

         22  need, and the surplus which is $25 million, is going

         23  to pay for a projected increase in the PA rolls for

         24  Fiscal Year '04.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, good. Now
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          2  let's break this down.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Is going to pay

          4  for a projected increase in the market rate for '04,

          5  is going to pay for a projected shortfall in the

          6  contract agencies. The PA is 10 million, the market

          7  rate is 5 million, the contract agency shortfall is

          8  8 million, and then there's also a $17 million need

          9  associated with the after school transition and the

         10  eligibility transition.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now that is

         12  very helpful.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Totals $40

         14  million.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. Slow

         16  down. Slow down.

         17                 You said 45, if I understood

         18  correctly. You talked about the 25 million and you

         19  had the 20 million before that for HRA. Okay, so

         20  that's 45 total, and then we're talking about a

         21  grand total of 80. So we're missing $35 million

         22  here. So, you're saying there's a new item, 17

         23  million for after school?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: After school and

         25  eligibility.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And

          3  eligibility. That's based on the restructuring.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Am I

          6  understanding you're saying the restructuring, which

          7  was supposed to save us, I think it was 15 million,

          8  that now it's going to cost us actually 17 million?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BELL: What I'm saying is

         10  that we have a $15 million need above the available

         11  block grant money. I'm only talking block grant

         12  money now. With respect to City tax levy, which

         13  would be in relation to the supplantation

         14  conversation that you had.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: For Fiscal Year

         17  2003, there was 190 million in City tax levy

         18  associated with City-funded child care.

         19                 In Fiscal Year '04, there's 190

         20  million of City tax levy associated with City-funded

         21  child care.

         22                 There is no reduction in the amount

         23  of City tax levy allocated for child care

         24  systemwide.

         25                 The descriptions that --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I respect that.

          3  Again, I think it's admirable when we just put our

          4  numbers on the table. So, if, in fact, the

          5  Administration said that the goal was to do a

          6  restructuring, it was going to save $15 million, we

          7  said as a Council formerly, that we would only

          8  accept that if there was no service diminution, and

          9  now it seems like you're saying to avoid service

         10  diminution, 17 million in surplus funds from the

         11  federal government had to be applied, basically

         12  taking us back to square one. You know, you could

         13  argue that's perfectly good, but just so we

         14  understand ourselves, the argument we had was, we

         15  didn't believe that cut of 15 million was going to

         16  work, that it just wasn't going to work budgetarily,

         17  so we would have said if we all knew it wasn't going

         18  to work, that we had to find a different way to fund

         19  that in the City budget, because we would still want

         20  the new money that comes in to create more child

         21  care slots.

         22                 So, I'm just going to note that, and

         23  I would also say that the market rate point, which

         24  is highly respected, we all know that providers are

         25  not given enough, but I wish we could get to more of
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          2  the debate of public policy, whether we want a

          3  higher market rate or more slots, because I think if

          4  you talked to the members here, and I'm going to

          5  turn to Diana Reyna in a moment who works very, very

          6  hard, harder than anyone, on getting us additional

          7  slots in the '03 budget, I think we could say we

          8  care deeply about the providers and we want to get

          9  them advantages. But probably the number one

         10  priority of Council members is more slots, given the

         11  huge backlog.

         12                 But so I'm hearing 20 million in

         13  additional for HRA, 25 for the market rate, the

         14  additional public assistance, the shortfalls in the

         15  agencies for 2004. The first 20 was for 2003 HRA,

         16  the second 25 is for 2004 combined item, and another

         17  17 for 2004 for after school and eligibility as part

         18  of the restructuring.

         19                 So, now I see that's 55, 62. Where is

         20  the additional $18 million?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm not sure how

         22  you're arriving at the numbers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, 20

         24  million HRA '03, additional need, right? You said 25

         25  --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's a baseline

          3  need.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But it's still

          5  you're using the federal dollars to fill a gap with

          6  it. You said that.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I'm not

          8  debating that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I'm saying

         10  that's where the 20 went.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm saying but 20

         12  went for '03.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're not

         14  disagreeing it was a good need, we're saying, we're

         15  just clarifying the first 20 went --

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That same 20 rose

         17  into '04.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So you're

         19  saying it repeats.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. It's a

         21  baselined need.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's good.

         23  So, that's 20 each year. The same type of program.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's paying for

         25  the same thing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And can you

          3  quantify for those two 20s, the 20 in '03 and the 20

          4  in '04, the additional slots created for public

          5  assistance recipients.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I could get back

          7  to you on that. I don't have that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ball park? I

          9  mean, no more than, no less than, something?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's something

         11  that I'll have to get back to you with.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right,

         13  Commissioner, and we do feel that your agency has

         14  been very responsive on information flow, but then

         15  again, we've come to hearings as general oversight,

         16  it's very helpful to get the basics out on the

         17  table. You know your budget like the back of your

         18  hand --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There's got to

         21  be some ballpark. If it's 20 million, can we get

         22  just a broad range of what $20 million a year would

         23  fund in the way of slots?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Approximately

         25  5,000 a slot.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Five-thousand

          3  new slots for public assistance families, folks

          4  coming off public assistance, making the transition?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Five-thousand per

          6  slot, so it's 4,000 --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry,

          8  $4,000 per slot. So, would it be fair to say 4,000

          9  new slots in '03 and continuing into '04; is that a

         10  fair statement?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: You accused me of

         12  sounding like a lawyer, and acting one, I'm hesitant

         13  to --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is an

         15  estimation. Harvey, or Joe, what are the words I

         16  need to use to let him know that it's non-binding?

         17  It's non-binding.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The approximation

         19  would be at approximately 5,000 a slot, that 20

         20  million translate into.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That didn't

         22  exist before Fiscal Year '03?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Vouchers used to

         24  fund informal care.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So it went from
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          2  informal care to a more formal situation.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's HRA's funds.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But it's in

          5  centers. No, it's informal care.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BELL: No, it's vouchers

          7  for informal care.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Informal care.

          9  And did it exist before Fiscal Year '03?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did no. Those

         12  are 5,000 or 4,000 new families --

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm sorry?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Are those 4,000

         15  new families getting service as a result of the

         16  money that went to '03?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's related to

         18  people continuing moving off of the welfare rolls.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But is it a

         20  higher level of numbers to the best of your

         21  knowledge?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In other words,

         24  if you looked at your '02 numbers versus your '03

         25  numbers, would you see something like --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: To the best of my

          3  knowledge, for additional services that were not

          4  there in HRA's needs prior to Fiscal Year '03.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Last question,

          6  and then I'll go to Diana.

          7                 Additional number, additional numbers

          8  of families served, or additional quality, if you

          9  will, of services?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: This is related to

         11  numbers of families.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So we'll all

         13  work on what the exact details are, but on one level

         14  this could be a very good thing, in terms of it's

         15  (a) it could be, if it checks out it could be a

         16  significant net increase in the amount of child care

         17  being provided, which is exactly what the federal

         18  money is supposed to go to.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It wasn't that

         20  easy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Diana Reyna.

         22  Thank you for all your efforts on this issue, and

         23  take over.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 I just wanted to thank the

          3  Commissioner and his administration in diligently

          4  working these numbers through, and taking the time

          5  to explain them to us. You know them better than any

          6  of us here and your work has been stupendous as far

          7  as trying to use what you have as a waiting list,

          8  and match it up with vacancies, and as I'm reading

          9  your testimony, I'm trying to figure out, I don't

         10  want to assume, but if the number of families, as

         11  far as those that were placed in child care slots,

         12  were a total reduction of 576, then wouldn't the

         13  same number appear as a decrease on the vacancy list

         14  be the same, 576 instead of 480?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The system is in

         16  constant motion, so we are -- teachers are leaving

         17  programs and therefore more vacancies are being

         18  created. We are determining more people eligible for

         19  slots and therefore people are being added to the

         20  certified wait list, although the number of slots

         21  available are not there.

         22                 And, so, that's why you see different

         23  numbers on these dates because it's a system in

         24  flux. What you see, though, when you look at the

         25  reservation, and the number of actual vacancies in

                                                            62

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  the programs, which is one of the slots that I have

          3  here, it is a picture of how this system is actually

          4  moving. Because once that child goes into a reserved

          5  slot, that slot then is no longer technically

          6  considered a vacant slot because it is assigned to

          7  that child, waiting for the family to complete their

          8  necessary paperwork in order to get that slot fully

          9  enrolled.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But in

         11  actuality the numbers are matcheable because they're

         12  underserved.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. They're

         14  related to each other, and so once you look at the

         15  number of slots reserved and the number of slots

         16  still remaining vacant, that tells you the picture

         17  of how many children are not yet fully enrolled in a

         18  slot. So, it relates to the full utilization in the

         19  system, but they're in different categories.

         20                 A vacant slot is available to any

         21  person who can be connected to it.

         22                 A reserved slot is offline and only

         23  available to the person for whom it was reserved.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And it's not

         25  counted as part of the vacancy list?

                                                            63

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. Because

          3  it's no longer a vacant slot.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: What is the

          5  process length in time, as far as processing the

          6  paperwork for each family?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: What we have just

          8  done in this new process that we're putting in

          9  place, is we are fixing a 45-day limit on

         10  reservations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's part of

         12  your new mission --

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Exactly. And, so,

         14  essentially, we will be working with the providers,

         15  as well as with families, to ensure that -- because

         16  essentially the major piece is getting a medical,

         17  and sometimes that can be done in a couple of weeks,

         18  sometimes that may take a little longer to get an

         19  appointment to have that completed. And so we're

         20  saying 45 days, though, is a reasonable time to

         21  expect that people will have completed all of the

         22  paperwork necessary to get in the slot.

         23                 We don't necessarily want to hold all

         24  of the slots open for 45 days, we would like to see

         25  them done as quickly as two weeks, if that's
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          2  possible, but we have to work as a system to improve

          3  the timeliness of everybody performing their roles,

          4  and particularly the families, in getting their

          5  paperwork completed, and assuming the fully enrolled

          6  slot.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

          8  your staff is concerned who have already gone

          9  through all the trouble of creating these certified

         10  lists, have they categorized families by length of

         11  time on the waiting list, so that those that have

         12  been waiting three years are being taken care of

         13  first, or it's just a random.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: So they're on a

         15  wait list in a particular order, so if five people

         16  are waiting for a pre-school slot in your day care

         17  center, the first person who was certified is the

         18  first person in line to get that slot once it

         19  becomes available.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, if I'm a

         21  mother and I'm on a waiting list, and I have a

         22  three-year old who is going to go into this

         23  particular center, but I've been on the waiting list

         24  because I was smart enough to get her on the list

         25  early, but now I have my second child who is going
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          2  to go in a year later, does that family get taken

          3  care of simultaneously?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN:

          5  Eligibility determined by family. Eligibility is

          6  determined by family, and once the family is

          7  eligible, all of their age-eligible children are

          8  eligible to move into slots as they're available for

          9  children those ages.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And do they

         11  have to be on a waiting list? Does that second child

         12  have to be part of a waiting list all over again?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, I enroll

         15  the first child in one center. The second child is

         16  on a waiting list, that child will then get --

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think that the

         18  issue of whether or not that second child has to be

         19  on a waiting list is also going to depend on the

         20  availability of a slot. In all actuality, more than

         21  likely the parent is going to want all of the

         22  children in the same day care center.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And that's what

         24  I'm facing within my own district. I have parents

         25  that come, I have my child at X center, I want the
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          2  second child to go there.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. It's going

          4  to depend on whether or not there is a vacant slot

          5  in that center for that age group.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So my question

          7  goes back to this categorizing of lists, is that

          8  taken into consideration?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, the lists

         10  are basically categorized in terms of are you

         11  waiting for an infant toddler, are you waiting for a

         12  pre-schooler, are you waiting for school age, which

         13  center are you waiting for. It's are you waiting for

         14  contracted child care, are you waiting for a voucher

         15  for child care, and that's how they're categorized.

         16                 I think part of the improvement of

         17  our relationship between the centers and the

         18  community if we move forward, some of these

         19  questions will be able to be answered, because there

         20  will be relationships existing in the community.

         21                 What we're really trying to do is

         22  improve the responsiveness of the service as a

         23  community service, and so that there is a

         24  relationship between those who are living in a

         25  community seeking the service and those who are
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          2  providing that service in the community.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And you do

          4  foresee that as you move forward, that these

          5  questions perhaps may be addressed.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think we have to

          7  find a way to address them and make the service as

          8  responsive as possible --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL:-- To the needs of

         11  the community.

         12                 And, so, as I said earlier, part of

         13  what we're doing now is changing the mindset of how

         14  this system views itself, and if we were talking

         15  about for-profit child care, then the emphasis would

         16  be on making sure that every slot is filled timely

         17  and making sure that you have the right mix of

         18  families and children working with the program.

         19                 We're moving the system in that

         20  direction so that it clearly sees itself as a

         21  service to this City's citizenry, and that we are

         22  trying to ensure that the needs of the families are

         23  anticipated and to the degree possible and to the

         24  availability of resources that we can better meet

         25  those needs, and that's the overall goal of what
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          2  we're doing here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I look

          4  forward to working as a partner with that goal.

          5                 I wanted to just ask a question as

          6  far as, and I'm sure I'm not -- I don't want to put

          7  anybody in the position where they can't answer, but

          8  it's part of a budget that you've just presented to

          9  us, what happens with a contract issue that has not

         10  been resolved? Is that worked within these numbers

         11  that we've just clarified?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Part of the

         13  challenge that we have in this contract situation is

         14  first that the employees are the members of the

         15  union and are not in a bargaining relationship with

         16  the City, they're in a bargaining relationship with

         17  the contractors of the City. And obviously the

         18  contractors and unions will say, well, we can't

         19  bargain if the City doesn't make money available to

         20  do that.

         21                 There is an offer on the table and

         22  has been on the table for the purposes of trying to

         23  achieve a contract extension for this union. As with

         24  every union, the City's position has been

         25  productivity enhancement and how we get to a place
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          2  where the system improves.

          3                 Up to this point this union has

          4  rejected the approach, and so we are at a stalemate

          5  for all intents and purposes, and it is our desire

          6  to be able to move forward, but it has to be done in

          7  the context of the City's overall position around

          8  collective bargaining and the needs for enhanced

          9  productivity and improvements in the system, which

         10  we are all seeking to achieve.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Do you feel

         12  that you've achieved a slight change in

         13  productivity, increase or decrease?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: We have not

         15  achieved that through this collective bargaining

         16  perspective, because the conversations have not

         17  continued at a level to achieve that.

         18                 I do believe that what we are

         19  describing here, as the changes in how we approach

         20  eligibility and enrollment and utilization, that

         21  there will be a productivity improvement in the

         22  system, that we're largely talking about

         23  productivity improvements on the part of ACS and

         24  working with the centers to be better recruiters and

         25  enrollers themselves for their own program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Will these

          3  numbers play a role in productivity changes?

          4                 I'm trying to define in my own --

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: These numbers that

          6  I've talked about here have not been allocated in a

          7  way that would deal with what I think you're

          8  referring to, which is the continuation of the

          9  conversation with this particular union around a

         10  contract extension.

         11                 The door is still open for the union

         12  to come back to the table and start a conversation.

         13                 We're hopeful, nobody wants to see a

         14  strike in childcare, nobody wants to see a family

         15  who needs this service to have to go without it. So,

         16  we're hopeful that we can reach some point of

         17  agreement that will allow things to move forward.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And just for my

         19  clear understanding, these numbers, as far as

         20  productivities are concerned, you're decreasing your

         21  vacancies because you are placing families, and the

         22  waiting list is decreasing because you're taking

         23  them and placing -- giving them the service they're

         24  requesting, that to me is productivity.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It is.

                                                            71

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, the answer

          3  would be, yes, it's going to be part of whatever

          4  future conversation.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: In large measure

          6  what I've been describing is enhancing productivity

          7  on the part of ACS employees. Because we are the

          8  ones who are doing the eligibility, we are the ones

          9  who are going to be working to provide technical

         10  assistance and support increased enrollment. And,

         11  so, that's the system that I've been describing.

         12                 I think the challenge is going to be

         13  going forward how do we, can we identify places

         14  where these efficiencies may open the door for

         15  potential productivity enhancements on the part of

         16  the employees who are in the union. And as I said,

         17  as long as we can look to continuously improving the

         18  productivity of this system, then we're open to

         19  having a conversation, and we invite that

         20  opportunity.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And my last

         22  question, Mr. Chair. I'm sorry I'm taking so long. I

         23  wanted to confirm the $15 million, whether there's

         24  more or the same money has been restored for the $59

         25  million program for after school-age children.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That dollar amount

          3  is still at $59 million for that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: It's still at

          5  59, no more, no less.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BELL: No more, no less.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I wanted to

          8  find out whether or not it's possible for you to

          9  give us a breakdown as to what percentage,

         10  percentage is easier than actual figures, monies

         11  coming from federal government, state government,

         12  City government, when it comes to school-age

         13  programs?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I would have to

         15  spend some time with staff to carve out specific

         16  school-age costs. In general I can say that in for

         17  City fiscal year 2003, there was a total of $435

         18  million in block grant monies and a total of $190

         19  million in City tax levy, and in Fiscal Year 2004

         20  the projection is that there would be a total of

         21  $460 million in block grant money and $190 million

         22  in City tax levy. So there's been no reduction in

         23  the amount of City tax levy in for each of these

         24  fiscal years.

         25                 But in terms of carving out
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          2  specifically school-age, I would have to get staff

          3  to do that work and we can get that information back

          4  to you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I would really

          6  appreciate that.

          7                 It's just for my understanding as to

          8  see the breakdown as to what the school-age program

          9  needs in order to survive and continue servicing the

         10  school-age children without any service cuts so that

         11  we can work on focusing and making sure that we

         12  secure that.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: We'll do our best

         14  to get you the best numbers possible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: You're welcome.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 I know Gale Brewer had another

         21  question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quick

         23  question.

         24                 Commissioner, when you talked about

         25  the transfer, I think you said the first phase was

                                                            74

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  in the process for now, and is that 11 agencies and

          3  13 sites for the January '04 --

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think it's 11

          5  agencies in 19 sites.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Nineteen

          7  sites.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For January

         10  '04.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So 17 million

         13  is going to pay for that and the eligibility. That's

         14  just that one move, plus the eligibility --

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: No, the cost for

         16  those sites is about $6.5 million.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Because

         18  I know you mentioned --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: For a year, for

         20  the continuation of that service.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's the

         22  balance of the 17.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The 17 million is

         24  just a projected restoration in terms of the 15

         25  million for the after school and 2 million for
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          2  eligibility, and that's how we get to that 17

          3  million.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. So,

          5  it's not relevant to the 6.5.

          6                 Okay, thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

          8  Kendall Stewart.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 Commissioner, I have -- I'm a little

         12  bit confused because of some of the things you said.

         13  Could you go over and tell me about the waiting

         14  list, child care slots? What's the total? You spoke

         15  about certified voucher lists, and non-certified

         16  lists, could you give me those figures again?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. In terms of

         18  the waiting list for child care slots, we have 4,862

         19  certified center-based individuals on the waiting

         20  list, children on the waiting list, for certified

         21  voucher waiting lists, there is 8,051. And for a

         22  non-certified voucher list, meaning that people have

         23  indicated that they have an interest in receiving a

         24  voucher, but they have not yet been certified to do

         25  so, that's 23,682 for a total of 36,595.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, in

          3  essence what you're saying is that, well, then the

          4  3,700 vacant slots that you spoke about, why is it

          5  that we have too many vacant slots not being used

          6  up?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, right now we

          8  only have 2,236 vacant slots as of December 2nd. And

          9  work, what I've been describing here is our work

         10  that is geared towards decreasing the number of

         11  vacancies by concentrating heavily on if I have an

         12  individual who is currently certified and waiting

         13  for a slot in a center that has a vacancy, that we

         14  expedite that person's movement from the wait list

         15  to that slot.

         16                 And that's the work that we're doing

         17  right now, in terms of contacting people who show up

         18  on our wait list, as waiting for a program that

         19  actually has a vacancy. And the work that we've done

         20  since November 13th in this area has produced I

         21  think a reduction of, I think it's 576 people from

         22  that wait list.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, I'm

         24  still confused because you're saying that, listen,

         25  we have 36,000 people waiting --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And we have

          4  2,000 slots available, which we've taken so much

          5  time to register those 2,000 slots. It's

          6  inconceivable to me that there will be people on the

          7  waiting list for years and never get on. They got

          8  their voucher, they might be there, and then the

          9  child may even grow up and become a teenager before

         10  they got the slots. That's what you're telling me?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: No, no. The

         12  reality is that there are more people waiting for

         13  child care then there is slots to be filled, and if

         14  you look at the slides that I handed out, and you

         15  look at the progress made from November 13th to

         16  December 2nd, where we would do the wait list by

         17  almost 600 individuals in less than a month, if you

         18  look at that projected out over time, one would

         19  assume that we will come pretty close to filling all

         20  of those vacancies in a reasonable amount of time.

         21                 The work that we're talking about and

         22  what we're describing here is the change and focus

         23  of the agency and our effort to hold ourselves

         24  accountable to ensuring that given that we have such

         25  a large number of people waiting for day care, and
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          2  we have such a small number of slots, we do

          3  everything possible to ensure that all of those

          4  slots are filled.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And what is

          6  being done in that respect, because I believe that

          7  the effort that is being made will then cause us to

          8  get a lot more money from the federal government;

          9  what efforts are being made to fulfill the requests

         10  of all of these people who need slots?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, what I

         12  described earlier was a process that currently has

         13  -- first we have staff who have identified

         14  everybody who is on the wait list by name, and by

         15  center, a program or a community district that

         16  they're waiting for.

         17                 We have people who are working every

         18  night calling individuals to say are you still

         19  interested in receiving this slot that you're

         20  waiting for, and moving them from the wait list to

         21  the reserve list for a slot and then we have a

         22  45-day window in which they have to complete all the

         23  required paperwork to move into that slot as being

         24  fully enrolled.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, for me,
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          2  to say you speak to them and if you didn't have the

          3  slots, what difference is it going to make?

          4                 If you have 36,000 people waiting --

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And you only

          7  have 2,000 vacant slots, no matter what you do, if

          8  you don't have space to put them, you know, I'm

          9  looking at the fact that you need to work on getting

         10  centers, getting places for them to be placed.

         11  That's what I'm talking about.

         12                 So, what are the efforts being made

         13  to do that? That's what I'm asking about.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BELL: And as I've

         15  testified in previous statements, there has been a

         16  few thousand increase in the number of slots

         17  available in the system.

         18                 Our efforts right now is to recognize

         19  that the need right now exceeds the supply, and one

         20  of the first things that we need to be able to do is

         21  to ensure that we're making the most complete

         22  utilization off the supply that we have. And then it

         23  is every effort being made to attract more state and

         24  federal dollars for the City in order to be able to

         25  meet an even greater need. But our first effort has
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          2  to be centered around making sure that every vacancy

          3  that we have is actually filled.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, what I

          5  wanted to hear from you is something like saying,

          6  well, we have a goal by the end of next Fiscal Year,

          7  we will have created so many more slots so that

          8  36,000 would not be 36,000, we can look at it at

          9  15,000 or 20,000. I'm not hearing that from you. All

         10  I'm hearing is, well, we have maybe 2,000 vacant

         11  slots, and we're going to try to fill those 2,000

         12  vacant slots from the 36,000. But what happened as

         13  we -- you know, I'm trying to get a feel of what is

         14  the plan to at least alleviate that problem of

         15  having 36,000 people on a waiting list. That's what

         16  I'm talking about.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. And one of

         18  the reasons you didn't hear that from me is because

         19  it requires additional resources in order to achieve

         20  that, and without some way of knowing exactly where

         21  those additional resources will come from, I can

         22  tell you I have a desire to see everyone who needs

         23  child care to receive it, but I don't want to give a

         24  false sense that I have a plan that will achieve

         25  enough resources to cover 36,000 additional slots of
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          2  child care. We currently have 60,000 slots of child

          3  care. That would mean that we're increasing our

          4  child care availability by over 50 percent, and as

          5  I've just articulated, when you look at the number

          6  of millions of dollars that we're spending, hundreds

          7  of millions of dollars that we're spending each year

          8  to keep the system where it is, I would be

          9  suggesting to you that I have a plan which is going

         10  to bring in a very, very large sum of money when I

         11  can't tell you that without having it to be so.

         12                 I think we share the same

         13  perspective. I think we all want to see people in

         14  need, particularly working poor families, to have

         15  available to them the child care that is necessary

         16  in order to enable them to meet the needs of their

         17  families. And we could continue a dialogue around

         18  how we might work together to make that happen, but

         19  I think first and foremost, I think as an agency we

         20  have an obligation to at least make the best

         21  utilization of the resources that we do have and

         22  therefore, speaking 100 percent utilization it's the

         23  first step. I think in addition to that we need to

         24  step back and take a look at developing a policy

         25  agenda around child care that will detract more
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          2  federal and state resources to the City to meet the

          3  needs of the City.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I understand

          5  what you're saying. I just feel that this is the way

          6  that the City is not going to be spending that much

          7  more money by creating more slots. Most of the money

          8  is going to come from the federal government when we

          9  do that and I think we should be concentrating on

         10  really creating more slots so that we can get that

         11  money from the federal government, and that's what I

         12  was looking for.

         13                 So, in essence, what you're saying,

         14  the 45 days waiting list, it's not really a two

         15  45-days waiting list.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The 45 days is the

         17  period of time for a child to remain on a

         18  reservation list, meaning you've been determined

         19  eligible, you've been assigned to a slot in a

         20  particular day care center, and now your parents

         21  have to complete a medical documentation and other

         22  paperwork in order to fully enroll the child in the

         23  center. We are saying is that we will only hold

         24  those slots off line for 45 days for the simple

         25  reason that you're talking about, because there are
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          2  so many other people who are waiting to get into

          3  those slots. And, so, what has happened in the past

          4  has been that someone could hold up a slot of day

          5  care for an extended period of time, we're changing

          6  that in the system and we're trying to make every

          7  effort to increase our utilization to 100 percent.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, in

          9  actuality what you're saying is that the 45-days

         10  waiting list is not really a waiting list for

         11  someone to get a slot, or placed in a slot; the 45

         12  days is basically for when you get that notice that

         13  there is a vacancy in the school, or the center that

         14  you are requesting, that you have 45 days to

         15  complete that process.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Exactly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         20  Council Member Stewart.

         21                 Commissioner, this question is a

         22  little off-the-cuff, but let me ask the other

         23  question first.

         24                 It just would seem more realistic,

         25  child care slots, vis-a-vis vacancy, vis-a-vis
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          2  fixing the paper trail would really help us move

          3  forward, and that was my statement that I started

          4  off with in terms of manpower and be able to move

          5  through the bureaucracy, and of course our goal here

          6  is to offer as much as we possibly can to help move

          7  through the administrative paperwork that's causing

          8  this to sort of hold up so we can begin to open up

          9  more slots.

         10                 But the real question is, about three

         11  to four years ago, and Harvey should remember this

         12  as well, there was dollars -- I think $25 million

         13  that was offered in terms of building new day care

         14  capital funds, and correct me if I'm wrong, but it

         15  was supposed to be matched with outside entities

         16  that would come in and we would build these day care

         17  centers, child care centers and we would be able to

         18  block them and move from there. What happened to the

         19  initial dollars that was put forth under the capital

         20  plan?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: The money

         22  that you identify is in the capital plan for ACS for

         23  years 2006 and out.

         24                 The difficulty is there wasn't a

         25  realistic mechanism for getting that money out and
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          2  recently a work group of the ACS Child Care

          3  Subcommittee has developed a plan for the use of

          4  that money and a plan for getting that money out.

          5                 We're now discussing with HPD, and

          6  City legislation, how we can formulate legislation

          7  that would help us implement the process to RFP this

          8  money so that it can be used by non-profits to cover

          9  the cost of substantial amounts of these facilities

         10  that need to be developed.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And how much are

         12  we talking about now because I know it was cut down

         13  -- it was actual dollars and cents that was

         14  allocated through the City Council. We started at

         15  25, I think it went down to 17 million, and as we

         16  progress I guess four or five years, I don't know

         17  where we are today; do you have any ideas?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: It's my

         19  recollection that the $26 million was capital funds

         20  with child care. Over an extended period of time --

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: If I remember this

         22  piece correctly, we didn't reduce it, we simply

         23  reprogrammed it for the outyears.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Okay.

         25                 And did you use any of these dollars
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          2  and cents to, I thought there was talk as opposed to

          3  doing the expansion piece to build new day care to

          4  actually do some maintenance pieces on the older day

          5  care to repair roofs; did you spend any of that kind

          6  of -- did you use any of that money for that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: I don't

          8  believe that we have used that money for the

          9  maintenance, or large pieces of maintenance or

         10  renovation, but we renovate the old facilities and

         11  work on old facilities on a regular basis and

         12  several million dollars are in our annual, not

         13  capital budget, for maintenance and have been spent

         14  on a regular basis.

         15                 I don't have the exact numbers. We do

         16  have a nice formal presentation that we can make

         17  available to you in regard to renovation of

         18  facilities.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: That would be

         20  excellent. We would like to see that in lieu of the

         21  wear-n-tear on buildings throughout the years, and

         22  especially in neighborhoods in Brooklyn and older

         23  neighborhoods where the day care, child care centers

         24  have been there for years.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: We just
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          2  completed a half a million dollar renovation at

          3  Faith, Hope and Charity Day Care Center somewhere

          4  around your district, I believe.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Yes.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: One of

          7  the things we've done to improve this is we have

          8  integrated the child care facilities staff into the

          9  overall ACS staff and we've put together I think a

         10  terrific team for both child care and Head Start as

         11  a result of that integration into the ACS facility

         12  staff.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: So, up until

         14  2006, are we just putting the capital development of

         15  new child care development, child care facilities on

         16  hold until we can actually figure out how to

         17  facilitate more money to do larger projects.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN: It

         19  currently is a day care center being built by the

         20  City in Williamsburg. There is funds, not part of

         21  this 26 for what is referred to as a Bronx

         22  Courthouse Day Care Center, and there are small

         23  amounts of other funds that help with the initial

         24  activity of capital development before '06 but they

         25  are very limited and very focused on specific
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          2  projects that have been funded, have been identified

          3  over the years.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I would love to

          5  see your capital plan and where we are, and if we

          6  can be of any help and assistance to making these

          7  things happen.

          8                 Of course, our goal, Commissioner,

          9  Deputy Commissioner, is to try to facilitate all our

         10  children that come, especially with welfare to work,

         11  we want to make sure that our parents able to be

         12  cognitive members of society and the first concern

         13  that they have, of course, is where is my child

         14  going to stay during the day and how the educational

         15  facilities are conducive to learning.

         16                 So, I thank you, and I think my

         17  co-chair has some follow-up questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Chair Boyland.

         20                 A couple of different points I'd like

         21  to raise.

         22                 Let me go back to the discussion on

         23  the question of labor situation. Obviously, as we

         24  learned recently in another setting, it's always

         25  debatable whether a labor situation should be
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          2  discussed in a public forum, so I don't want to get

          3  into a lot of detail. I would simply say that I

          4  have, and I think everyone involved in this

          5  Committee has expressed a deep concern to your

          6  agency, to the Mayor's Office, that we want to get a

          7  contract done immediately for the good of everyone

          8  involved. It's right for the Administration, it's

          9  right for the Council, it's right for the people who

         10  do the work every day, and no one is saying these

         11  are overpaid people working in lavish conditions.

         12  It's right for the administrators of the centers,

         13  it's right for everyone. It's especially right, and

         14  most importantly, our bosses, the parents of these

         15  children, and the children, you know, the citizenry

         16  is who we're supposed to be serving, and making sure

         17  that we solve the latest situation amicably, get a

         18  contract, avert a strike is an extremely important

         19  priority in the eyes of this Council. I'm just

         20  saying that.

         21                 We are all trying, everywhere we can

         22  to facilitate further conversation. And my request

         23  to you, and I would ask you to take this back to the

         24  Mayor, is that everyone get at the table and stay at

         25  the table, because I think that's in the interest of
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          2  the children of this City, and I believe there are

          3  regional people on all sides of this, and it's just

          4  time to do that. And further, if there's any way we

          5  could facilitate help, if there's any pay that we

          6  could be a part of the solution, we would want to

          7  be.

          8                 One other just editorial comment, and

          9  feel free to comment after this, if you care to. I

         10  appreciate very much finally getting a clear

         11  delineation on what I'm calling for this sake a

         12  shorthand, a surplus $80 million or so in the

         13  federal and state funds, and I think I appreciate

         14  the good uses that you have delineated, but I would

         15  also say from the jump, that all budget interactions

         16  are, by definition, fungible, everything is

         17  interrelated.

         18                 When you introduce $80 million new

         19  dollars into the equation, even if you've had

         20  greater need, it's still a net gain and it has a

         21  powerful impact, and the choices you make have to be

         22  looked at. As I said, one could argue market rate,

         23  one could argue additional child care slots, one

         24  could certainly argue getting to a contract with the

         25  unions involved and making sure we have stability in
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          2  our child care system going forward.

          3                 So, I just would say to you I regard

          4  your explanation today of the breakout of this $80

          5  million as helpful and honest, but also as a strong

          6  argument that we could equally be using this surplus

          7  as part of, as part of the solution on the contract

          8  front going forward. Just to state that. If you care

          9  to comment on that I welcome it.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, I accept the

         11  suggestion that we do everything possible to avert a

         12  strike and to try and move towards a contract, and I

         13  will take that back in terms of continuing

         14  conversations on this issue.

         15                 With regard to utilization of the

         16  surplus. The market rate, I should add, is something

         17  that is set by the state, and once set we have an

         18  obligation to pay.

         19                 So, I think that particular area is

         20  not necessarily an optional place to look for

         21  resources. But I think that your point is that these

         22  are not high-paid individuals, and that this is an

         23  area where ultimately we want to see children in

         24  child care and we want to do everything to keep that

         25  as continuous as possible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And just a

          3  final point on this, and then I have a couple of

          4  questions, and it goes without saying that providing

          5  quality child care to children in this City,

          6  low-income children in this City, has a huge

          7  positive economic multiplier effect of children

          8  being more ready for school so they can perform

          9  better in school, so they can do better in the work

         10  place, so they can avert problems with the law and

         11  reduces the needs for all sorts of services that are

         12  necessary for children who experience academic

         13  problems or social problems or legal problems, so by

         14  any enlightened standard, solving this labor problem

         15  is in the interest to the City economically, and

         16  obviously in the human moral interest of the

         17  children.

         18                 On the restructuring, I think we've

         19  established here at least one point which is that

         20  some of this surplus money is playing a role in the

         21  restructuring process, and that therefore by

         22  definition the optimal goal of the restructuring as

         23  a significant cost savings may not in fact be

         24  possible as originally envisioned, and I give the

         25  Administration credit, there was always a lot of
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          2  openness and gray area in the descriptions on

          3  purpose because people needed to see playout, but

          4  again, I'm going to suggest here as an initial

          5  thought that that is understandable but not

          6  necessarily in the spirit of the agreement the

          7  Council had with the Mayor's Office at the time of

          8  the budget adoption in which additional money would

          9  be found by the Administration if there were any gap

         10  in the actual outcome of the restructuring.

         11                 Taking money that should have served

         12  another positive purpose and moving over here, again

         13  I'd say, one could say it is not a malevolent form

         14  of supplantation, because it's not going to a bad

         15  thing, this is not going to the Cayman Islands to

         16  some bank account, but it is at the same time not

         17  what the doctor ordered, it's not what the original

         18  intent of the federal statute is.

         19                 So, just to put in your mind, I think

         20  this is an item we're going to want to talk to you

         21  about further in terms of the agreements between the

         22  Administration and the Council at the time of the

         23  budget adoption.

         24                 On the restructuring, your testimony

         25  was helpful and some of the Q and A was helpful, I
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          2  just want to make sure I got the time line

          3  abundantly clear.

          4                 To the best of your knowledge, if you

          5  could just say, just shorthand, in January this

          6  happens, in June this happens, can you lay out what

          7  you know at this moment of all of the elements of

          8  the restructuring, the quick, the headlines and when

          9  they happen.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BELL: There are two

         11  things that are scheduled to occur in January. One

         12  is the completion of the transfer of eligibility, 65

         13  employees from ACS to HRA. They will remain in their

         14  current location, but they will be focused on

         15  eligibility determination as HRA employees.

         16                 In addition, the first phase of

         17  transferring the after school program that are after

         18  school only, which include 11 agencies and 19 sites,

         19  will be transferred to DYCD. And the spring of 2004

         20  we anticipate that the analysis and planning that

         21  was an outgrowth of the out-of-school time summit

         22  will be completed, and a model, a comprehensive

         23  approach to out-of-school time services for children

         24  in the City will be crafted, and then following that

         25  would be their role towards implementation of
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          2  whatever that out-of-school time service model is.

          3  There is no dates that are set around the

          4  implementation process, because it will depend on

          5  what the comprehensive model and design looks like.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, again,

          7  knowing that DYCD is a part of this, and the Mayor's

          8  Office and all the pieces are there, is that the

          9  only definition we can now give the restructuring,

         10  what you just said is the entire sort of -- that's

         11  the only pieces on which we can say we have a

         12  stationary target here at this moment?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BELL: The only piece

         14  that is now designed for a transfer is the one that

         15  I've just talked about, and in terms of what has

         16  been communicated before, during and subsequent to

         17  the summit, is that the goal of the City is to take

         18  a step back and to engage the best minds possible to

         19  design a comprehensive strategy for delivering a

         20  service to this population.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to say

         22  the summit was a very impressive and good thing. I

         23  think just a quick friendly editorial comment, I

         24  think we in the Council could have been involved

         25  earlier in that process. I think it was very uneven
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          2  whether people were invited and if and how and when.

          3  I'm sure it was not ill, you know, bad faith, but it

          4  just could have been better. I think it's true for

          5  the folks in the unions that are pertinent to this

          6  issue. And I think it was great to have a big ten. I

          7  think the big ten could have been bigger and earlier

          8  for everyone's benefit, and I think any time we're

          9  in a room talking about children, we're doing

         10  something good, but I just humbly suggest that next

         11  time there be more inclusiveness, it be in

         12  everyone's interest.

         13                 Now, I appreciate you always give me

         14  an answer that helps me understand what's going on,

         15  so that helped me understand what's going on. What I

         16  don't understand now, and when we had the first

         17  hearing Ester Fuchs spoke on behalf of the larger

         18  plan, it appears that one possibility within the

         19  restructuring plan is that agencies that had a

         20  significant amount of children that they provided

         21  service for no longer would actually directly be

         22  providing the service, and therefore potentially

         23  their budgets, their overall survival might be in

         24  question.

         25                 It's not to say that the children
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          2  wouldn't be served or some other worthy agency

          3  wouldn't get their work, but it is to say there is a

          4  gray area that some agencies could be threatened in

          5  this process; can you shed any further light on

          6  that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, I think that

          8  the planning and analysis time that I've talked

          9  about, gives the City an opportunity to make those

         10  kinds of judgments and to ensure that we are not

         11  rushing down a pathway that could have a set of

         12  consequences that no one would intend.

         13                 And, so, I don't think that at this

         14  juncture that there is a definitive answer. I think

         15  the answer is that all of this will be taken into

         16  consideration as we're talking about how to design

         17  the most appropriate model for service delivery.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I respect that

         19  answer, and one of the things we said back in the

         20  spring was slow down and be careful. My own

         21  interpretation of your answer is that is in evidence

         22  of an understanding of that and a willingness to do

         23  that.

         24                 Is there any policy at this moment,

         25  can you say as sort of an imperative or a directive
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          2  or a policy running through this discussion, that

          3  the preservation of existing non-profit child care

          4  or children-oriented agencies is a priority? In

          5  other words, as the work is done, one of the

          6  checklist items is a high priority on preserving

          7  existing centers presuming they do good work?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BELL: There's no intent

          9  at all to disrupt the delivery of pre-school, none

         10  out-of-school time child care services. It is a

         11  definite intent to maintain our efforts to meet the

         12  needs of the children, and that's why the program

         13  process that I've described here today is around

         14  achieving 100 percent utilization of all of the

         15  available early childhood slots.

         16                 So, this stepping back is an

         17  opportunity to avoid making any costly mistakes, or

         18  avoid creating a set of circumstances that none of

         19  us would have wanted to see for the children who are

         20  involved.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, if people

         22  were in the planning meetings, and they were certain

         23  that X action would cause ten worthy centers to

         24  close down, that that would be something that would

         25  be of real concern to the planners?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, it would be

          3  a concern if we're looking at taking away existing

          4  available child care slots for kids in their

          5  communities and that's not the intent of this

          6  process.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, we

          8  understand the Domino effect, imagine for a moment

          9  the slots moved from group X to group Y and both of

         10  the groups and the children were still served but in

         11  the process group X was defunded to the point that

         12  they just couldn't continue to provide their other

         13  services, you're the ACS Commissioner, you're

         14  looking at everything related to children. I mean,

         15  in other words, would that be a scenario, if you saw

         16  a pattern of that, would that be something in the

         17  planning process that were regarded as a problem

         18  that needed to be further addressed in the process?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. A part of

         20  the process would be to analyze any potential impact

         21  on the centers that will be remaining behind once a

         22  transfer occurs of the school-age component of those

         23  centers. So, as I said, there is not a goal here to

         24  deplete the early childhood component, the goal is

         25  to create a comprehensive approach to the school
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          2  time for school-age children.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: So, in that

          5  context, if center X is delivering child care

          6  services for 60 kids and 20 of them are school-age

          7  and the other 40 are pre-school, then one of the

          8  questions that will have to be answered is, how do

          9  we preserve the services for those 40 pre-school

         10  children, and at the same time create a more

         11  comprehensive strategy around delivering services to

         12  those 20?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         14  say just a quick point on this and I have a couple

         15  more. I'm sorry it's dragging on a little bit. This

         16  is a wonderful opportunity to get clarity on a lot

         17  of issues and we appreciate your time.

         18                 I just think, and I've said this to

         19  Ester Fuchs and a number of other people in the

         20  Administration, I think we have to recognize after

         21  years and years and years of building up an

         22  infrastructure through both government and

         23  non-profits and obviously the religious community,

         24  et cetera, to provide for our children, and we

         25  finally got the focus on public education we should
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          2  have had decades ago, and we're beginning to get the

          3  focus on child care we should have and et cetera, I

          4  worry about infrastructure. I'm not just talking

          5  about moving child A from here to B, et cetera, I'm

          6  saying that I worry about that we develop an

          7  effective network of agencies. They also I'm sure in

          8  many cases provide important contributions to the

          9  prevention process, to make sure children are not

         10  maltreated, and I know, like any other field of

         11  endeavor, there may be a few that are not worthy,

         12  but I think the vast majority are, people don't tend

         13  to go into this field because it's a great

         14  profitable area to be in, people tend to do it

         15  because they want to serve, but my point would

         16  simply be, I think a priority in your planning

         17  process should be to look at that infrastructure

         18  from the bird's eye view, from the view you look at

         19  as Commissioner, not just we're dealing with this

         20  restructuring, this specific need, but what role do

         21  these agencies play in the community. If we believe

         22  they're good, are we sure that the action we take

         23  today is not having the unintended consequence of

         24  potentially threatening their survival. And if their

         25  survival is threatened, doesn't that hurt a broader
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          2  infrastructure we need for the larger purposes of

          3  the work you do?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: In that

          5  perspective we'll absolutely be a part of this

          6  process.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me also

          8  raise, as we did with Ester Fuchs, I'm going to use

          9  a word just to clarify and sharpen our discussion -

         10  privatization. Now, typically privatization is when

         11  we take a government service and we hand it over to

         12  a private firm. Another way of looking at it is when

         13  we take a government service historically provided

         14  in connection with a contract with a labor union

         15  then go away from a labor union contract to

         16  something provided outside of government and no

         17  longer with union labor. Isn't it conceivable in

         18  this dialogue that is going on now that a result

         19  could be that people who have union jobs now no

         20  longer will have those jobs after the end of the

         21  process?

         22                 Isn't it conceivable that a job that

         23  today is a union person working in a child care

         24  center, getting paid X wage, that job moves over to

         25  a different place and is no longer necessarily a
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          2  union job?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That has not been

          4  part of any objective that we have. And, so, I think

          5  in analyzing what all of the potential consequences

          6  are, it's something that we'll have to take a look

          7  at.

          8                 But this effort has not been around

          9  any desire to displace a unionized employee or move

         10  work that was being done by union employees to a

         11  place where it would not be done by union employees.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And in terms of

         13  the cost savings, acknowledging the $17 million use

         14  of the new money that you discussed earlier, but in

         15  terms of the cost saving, wasn't some of that cost

         16  saving anticipated by paying certain types of

         17  workers less than is certainly the case?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think that what

         19  is being acknowledged by the Mayor's vision to take

         20  a step back and do some comprehensive planning, is

         21  that the initial thoughts about how this would occur

         22  needed to be worked on more, and so what is

         23  occurring now is we are rethinking the early vision,

         24  as well as looking more broadly at what needs to

         25  occur here.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BELL: And, so, some

          4  things that may have been suggested as the end

          5  result in the early days can be completely rethought

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I

          8  appreciate that. And that's a good answer, I

          9  appreciate it. And we would like to be a part of,

         10  not in your core discussions, but in regular

         11  consultation because these are some of the areas

         12  that concern us and to finish this, the question of

         13  what would happen, in the event that the plan led to

         14  people, union members, for example, no longer having

         15  the particular job they had, do you believe it is a

         16  priority of the planning process to make sure that

         17  all current employees are placed within whatever new

         18  structure is developed?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think it would

         20  be hard to give a definitive response on that

         21  without first understanding what the potential

         22  consequences are.

         23                 I think our ultimate goal and

         24  objective is to have the best possible service for

         25  this particular target population of children, and
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          2  ultimately once that is achieved, we're in a

          3  different position in determining what the work

          4  force needs to look like that is delivering that

          5  service.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And I

          7  want to put that front and center, though, that I

          8  think, again, because it's a precious workforce,

          9  just like our teachers are and the folks who serve

         10  children, we've had a very unfortunate record, and

         11  it's not New York City alone, it's everywhere, of

         12  retaining people in the child care area, retaining

         13  teachers in the public schools, et cetera, et

         14  cetera, I think every consideration we can give to

         15  making sure that people end up with a job some place

         16  in this field is in everyone's interest. And

         17  equally, is it fair to say that a principle of your

         18  planning process is that every child currently

         19  served and every family currently served would not

         20  have a lesser degree of service than they are

         21  receiving now?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Again --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is that a

         24  principle; is that an ideal?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's a principle
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          2  in the context of designing the most comprehensive

          3  and most appropriate service possible for this

          4  population, and in doing so you have to take into

          5  account what the needs are for this population and

          6  design something that is going to meet that need.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I'm hearing

          8  a sort of, as your answer respectfully.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think what I'm

         10  saying is that we can look at what the service looks

         11  like today, and think about keeping that, or we can

         12  look at what the actual needs are, and that maybe

         13  what we come up with is something even more

         14  comprehensive.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Look, we're

         16  always hoping to better. And I think a principle

         17  running through and I think Chair Boyland would

         18  agree with this, is that there's a little bit of if

         19  it ain't broke don't fix it going on here. I'm not

         20  saying anything is perfect in the world of child

         21  care, but I think we would like to see in very

         22  tangible terms in our oversight role, that here is

         23  the existing level of service, which by the way, we

         24  listened to our constituents, we hear from people

         25  all the time, and I'm not hearing a lot of parents
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          2  say that they're not happy with the services

          3  provided by your agency. I think people are very

          4  thankful to be able to have access to them, and the

          5  lucky ones who do.

          6                 Here's a level of service, now you

          7  guys are going to potentially reinvent the wheel and

          8  make something even better, that might be great. But

          9  I think we want to have some guarantees in that

         10  process that we're not actually trying to reinvent

         11  something, and instead of ending up up here, we end

         12  up down here, because we've got something pretty

         13  good right now. So I think that's, I want to give

         14  you that thought, that people are very nervous,

         15  because there's been so little information flowing,

         16  they're very nervous that if you can't say level of

         17  service will be maintained, and that's something the

         18  Council said in the budget negotiations, and as well

         19  was a bottom line for us, if you can't say it that

         20  plainly, then before you pull the trigger we need to

         21  understand how it looks, because what may look great

         22  to you may not look great to other folks, and we

         23  need to have a dialogue.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Lastly, on the
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          2  question quickly on under-utilization, just so I'm

          3  clear, I did see the numbers you put into your

          4  testimony, which I appreciated about how you're

          5  significantly improving the numbers related to

          6  underutilization of child care slots; is there a

          7  target?

          8                 In other words, we all understand a

          9  certain amount of under-utilization unfortunately is

         10  natural in any organization, just because of

         11  turnover and change and nothing is perfect, is there

         12  a target that you think you could reach that no more

         13  than X number of slots or X percentage of slots

         14  would be unutilized at any point and given time? Is

         15  there a managerial goal that you think is realistic?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, given that

         17  this is a fluid system, and as I stated earlier,

         18  children are constantly moving in and out of slots,

         19  I think what we're focused on is reaching 98 percent

         20  utilization and then making some judgments about how

         21  much higher than that we can actually go.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And help me on

         23  the math, 98 percent utilization, how many slots

         24  will be unused any given point in time, roughly?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BELL: So, somewhere
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          2  around 1,200 slots --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, say

          4  it again.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Somewhere around

          6  1,200 slots in the center-based program in the

          7  family day care component.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, 1,200, and

          9  just give me the grand total again, just so I

         10  understand.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Sixty-thousand

         12  slots at 98 percent leaves about 1,200 that are

         13  influx at any given point in time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: That's at a 98

         16  percent --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: My math is

         18  failing me. Okay, so roughly 98 percent is the

         19  managerial goal, obviously we've got a ways to go

         20  there.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Might translate

         23  to, again, how many slots? Say that one more time?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BELL: About 1,200 at any

         25  given moment.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: 1,200

          3  unutilized at any given moment.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Right. I think the

          5  point that I made, though, is that getting to 98

          6  percent, then the next step is to determine, is it

          7  possible to do better.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. And

          9  obviously to hold at that level. Managerially -- no

         10  one has ever said they wanted to walk a mile in your

         11  shoes as a matter of being a manager. You have a

         12  very, very tough job, but 98 percent is a wonderful

         13  goal.

         14                 If I said to you, do you have any

         15  target date, general target date by which you would

         16  like to reach your 98 percent goal, non-binding?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BELL: I would have to

         18  say, given the early stages that we're in in

         19  implementing this process, and still in terms of a

         20  response to Chair Boyland's question about the

         21  staffing needs, I need to do some more analysis. I

         22  could just give you a date for the sake of giving

         23  you one but I'd like to be able to give you

         24  something that I feel comfortable with, which has I

         25  think been the way that I've approached this
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          2  testimony since we've been doing this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I will give you

          4  some unsolicited professional advice. I would

          5  strongly urge the Mayor to have that date be some

          6  time before November 2005.

          7                 Thank you very much for your

          8  testimony.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         11  Commissioner, and Deputy Commissioner, as well as

         12  your staff. You've been very patient. We tried to

         13  undo some pain here today, but you just seemed to be

         14  too cool for that today, but thank you for coming.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, I always see

         16  it as an excellent opportunity to continue a very

         17  fruitful conversation that we started almost two

         18  years ago, and hopefully we will continue for

         19  another two years.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. We

         22  appreciate your time.

         23                 And we are now going to bring up our

         24  next panel.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I'd like to also
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          2  acknowledge my colleague Charles Barron, from the

          3  Women's Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sneaking out

          5  the door.

          6                 I'd like to acknowledge, actually --

          7  let me first call up the panel, so they can move on

          8  up, and then I'll make another announcement.

          9                 Two representatives of DC 1707,

         10  Michael Green and Sandy Socolar. We welcome them.

         11                 I want to acknowledge, unfortunately,

         12  our colleague Hiram Monserrate had to return to his

         13  district very suddenly, there's been a serious

         14  accident at one of the schools in his district. A

         15  child, unfortunately I don't have the details but it

         16  sounds like a very unfortunate thing happened to a

         17  child so he had to go back to his district right

         18  away, and would have otherwise been with us

         19  throughout the hearing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Sandy, are you

         21  ready? Ms. Socolar? And I guess there are two other

         22  people that will be -- oh, Mike Green is here. Hi,

         23  Mike. Whenever you are ready.

         24                 MR. GREEN: Thank you. I'm Mike Green,

         25  Director of Day Care and Head Start Locals for
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          2  District Council 1707.

          3                 And first of all, we'd like to thank

          4  both Committees for having this hearing, this very

          5  important hearing dealing with this crucial issue.

          6  We really expressed our appreciation to the General

          7  Welfare Committee for engaging in the resolution

          8  that really hits on the important points for the

          9  children of families of the City.

         10                 You know, it's very important that we

         11  increase the supply as well as the City makes a

         12  commitment to cover the increasing costs of child

         13  care which they haven't been willing to do.

         14                 The money, the additional monies that

         15  have been sent to the City from the State and

         16  Federal Government should be used to supplement and

         17  not supplant the monies that the City is already

         18  spending for child care.

         19                 Now, I would just like to address

         20  some of the answers that Commissioner Bell gave

         21  concerning the collective bargaining process with

         22  District Council 1707.

         23                 When he was talking about dealing

         24  with Local 205, the 7,000 day care workers, as they

         25  are with the rest of the City-funded unions, I think
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          2  that is a little bit off the point in that Local 205

          3  is one round behind in the contract negotiations.

          4  Their last contract expired December 31st of 2000,

          5  so they missed the last round that I think DC 37 and

          6  other unions got, which is the 27-month contract,

          7  and also the nature of the negotiations were

          8  mischaracterized in that where they put an offer on

          9  the table that was unacceptable but we did come with

         10  a counter-proposal, and we have never heard from

         11  them, and that session took place back in February.

         12  So, we're still waiting to hear from them, and we

         13  would be happy to engage in  discussions and we

         14  appreciate Councilman DeBlasio, you know,

         15  emphasizing that point to the City, so if they're

         16  ready to sit down for a period of time and seriously

         17  discuss coming to an agreement, we're on call.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you, Mike.

         19  Sandy.

         20                 MS. SOCOLAR: I think most of us, when

         21  we heard about this additional $80 million, saw it

         22  as a real possibility that something could now be

         23  done that would reduce the amount of funding that

         24  the City would have to put up out of its own

         25  funding.
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          2                 I think that it's important to keep

          3  in mind that in all previous contract renewals, the

          4  City has put up its own money, and then as the

          5  market rate goes up, it's possible to collect, claim

          6  more from the State block grant money to pay for

          7  those increases.

          8                 This Administration has not put up

          9  any City money at all. We have been pointing out

         10  that there is federal and state block grant money

         11  available. In Commissioner Bell's analysis, which

         12  you painstakingly got clarified, about 20 million

         13  was for last year, the thing that he mentioned that

         14  I think we can't just let go by, is that $17 million

         15  of that was for "restoration of the cuts of City

         16  funding." And that $17 million restoration is a

         17  total violation of the State, no set plantation

         18  regulation.

         19                 We've had this discussion about does

         20  the federal requirement of supplement not supplant,

         21  have any bearing? That was something that applied

         22  only to the 2002 year appropriation, and so that

         23  isn't even an issue.

         24                 But the 1992 State regulation is

         25  absolutely explicit and it says very clearly that
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          2  local districts must not use federal funds allocated

          3  for the Child Care and Development Block Grant to

          4  supplant any other federal, state or local funds

          5  used for child care, and so that $17 million cannot

          6  be restored by using the new block grant money to

          7  fill that hole. The City has an obligation, if it is

          8  going to claim any federal, state child care block

          9  grant money, to continue to put up as much money as

         10  it had been for child care.

         11                 And, so, I think the City Council

         12  needs to ask the Administration on what grounds do

         13  you justify violating this very explicit state

         14  regulation about no supplantation.

         15                 I was hoping very much that someone

         16  would ask that question because the OMB person that

         17  we spoke with last week said simple, well, we figure

         18  it does not apply to us, and we need to know on what

         19  grounds are they saying that this is not applicable

         20  to what they are proposing to do.

         21                 The other thing that I think is

         22  important to note is if you do allocate the federal

         23  state child care block grant money, carefully,

         24  quarter by quarter, and sort it out, what it

         25  appears, and I didn't bring copies of this but I'd
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          2  be very glad -- I did give it to the City Finance

          3  staff people, and they didn't say there was anything

          4  wrong with it, that it shows that there is 442

          5  million dollars available for 2003, Commissioner

          6  Bell said that they needed only 435. So, 7 million

          7  can be rolled over. If we assume, which I think we

          8  have to assume, that we're going to be able to get

          9  the State Legislature to use the same amount of TANF

         10  money, converted to block grant funds, next April,

         11  as they have this year, and I think the whole state,

         12  all of the whole state is going to be insisting that

         13  they not only do that but that they draw on all the

         14  rest of the TANF funding that is available to be

         15  converted into Child Care Block Grant funds.

         16                 If we just hold our own and get as

         17  much as we did this year, we will have $470 million

         18  for 2004, and that covers more than the 265 that

         19  Commissioner Bell said they would need, which means

         20  that if you take into account this restoration of

         21  $17 million, there's certainly at least 17 million,

         22  possibly $22 million that has not been committed and

         23  can be committed to dealing with this very long

         24  overdue raise for the day care workers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to
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          2  jump in on that point because you said it very well.

          3  In my questioning of the Commissioner, the point

          4  was, the 17 is not a bad usage, but it is an

          5  acknowledgment that the restructuring was not

          6  possible with the $15 million savings projected, and

          7  the Commissioner didn't disagree with that

          8  statement.

          9                 So, that's great, they do need to

         10  come up with a 15 million or 17 million, whatever it

         11  is to fill that gap.

         12                 MS. SOCOLAR: It's 2 million was for

         13  the eligibility.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just

         15  saying, I'm going to use a round number.

         16                 MS. SOCOLAR: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But the point

         18  is that under the agreement I had with the Mayor's

         19  Office, they need to come up with that money, not

         20  take funding dedicated to another purpose like this

         21  and utilize it this way, unless we concurred. And

         22  obviously, in the case of both the increase of

         23  supply of child care and settling the labor

         24  situation, we wouldn't concur, we would say that

         25  money needs to go to these other more important
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          2  uses, find your 17 million some place else in your

          3  $45 billion budget. I mean that's a conversation

          4  we're going to now have to have with the

          5  Administration, because it's the first time we've

          6  ever heard of breakout that indicated that some of

          7  that state funding and federal funding is going to

          8  the restructuring in effect.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And I would also

         10  like to mention that per a call from Neil and to my

         11  co-chair, there is hopefully a meeting that should

         12  be set up within, I guess before or after the

         13  holidays with Assembly Roger Green to really talk

         14  about some of the labor issues that we have, and

         15  then talk about the block grant and the restruction

         16  of it.

         17                 Albany gave a great breakdown I guess

         18  in the beginning of the year in terms of where it

         19  was going and how it was being used and what was

         20  left over, and I think the Commissioner, as

         21  painstakingly as it was, tried to explain to us

         22  exactly how he was using one's fiscal year

         23  allocation to take care of another fiscal year which

         24  obviously would cause some problems on the next

         25  year, the next fiscal year, but we do want to let
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          2  you know that we are in consultation. I have had a

          3  conversation with Assemblyman Roger Green about this

          4  same thing. We're just waiting to put a date

          5  together so we can sit down.

          6                 Thanks again. So, thank you, Mike and

          7  Sandy.

          8                 MR. GREEN: Thank you.

          9                 MS. SOCOLAR: We are very grateful for

         10  what you all said about school-age transfers and the

         11  issues of how that affects our providers, the

         12  caregivers that care for our most vulnerable

         13  children.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         15  Thank you very much, and thank you for the good work

         16  that you do.

         17                 We have one more panel. Candice

         18  Anderson of CCC, Andrea Anthony, Day Care Council of

         19  New York, Nancy Kolben, Child Care, Inc., all our

         20  good friends and are welcome.

         21                 And while they're coming up, I just

         22  want to acknowledge and appreciate the work of the

         23  folks who put this hearing together, our Counsel

         24  Jackie Sherman isn't here because she's off

         25  negotiating another bill that is a priority of this
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          2  Committee, but she did great work in putting this

          3  together. And also Steve Solomon, who is our Finance

          4  Analyst, and Sarah Seidman, our Policy Analyst, we

          5  want to thank all of them for their good work.

          6                 Madam Co-chair, I have to step over

          7  to the Finance Committee for a few minutes. I

          8  appreciate your continued leadership of this

          9  hearing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Ladies, while

         11  you're getting set up, I'd also like to thank Bikku

         12  Kuruvila, Steve, Joan, Anthony, Mary, and I guess

         13  every hearing I thank everyone for their support. We

         14  know it's not easy in terms of some of the issues

         15  that we try to cover, but we hope that we are making

         16  an impact and that sleeping at night becomes easier

         17  based on some of the solutions. You're smiling at

         18  me, Bikku, but that's okay. Some of the solutions

         19  are working towards solutions to some of our issues.

         20                 Whoever would like to go first,

         21  you're welcome.

         22                 MS. KOLBEN: My name is Nancy Kolben,

         23  and I'm and Executive Director of Child Care, Inc.,

         24  and we're a child care resource and referral agency

         25  that is working to assure quality child care for all
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          2  children.

          3                 And we want to thank you for putting

          4  together this hearing and for being such strong

          5  advocates for child care, the expansion of child

          6  care services quality, the commitment to the issues

          7  that are impacting the workforce, those who work in

          8  child care, you really understand how critical it is

          9  to be sure that we have an appropriately compensated

         10  workforce.

         11                 I want to just highlight a couple of

         12  issues that came up in the testimony, and things

         13  that I think really need to be followed up on.

         14                 One is that we certainly, as an

         15  organization that tries to understand and track

         16  child care funding, appreciate the really detailed

         17  effort to try and understand what is happening with

         18  the money. We have suffered over the last four years

         19  in getting hundreds of millions of dollars of new

         20  child care money that did not result in any

         21  expansion of services in this City, and we are all

         22  committed to not letting that happen again.

         23                 I think even in the breakdown, there

         24  are some things in addition to the $17 million that

         25  we need to really look at carefully. One is the
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          2  notion that we're going to be sending $5 million on

          3  increased market rate. In fact, some of the market

          4  rate costs went down for informal care and there's

          5  probably $10 million of money that will not be spent

          6  by HRA because their payment levels are down and

          7  there's no commitment to increase the market rate

          8  payments to the contracted agencies.

          9                 So, I think that this breakdown needs

         10  to be carefully analyzed and looked at in terms of

         11  really understanding how much money will be

         12  available for us, with the hope that we can both

         13  meet the union contract and expand services.

         14                 The other issue that I wanted to

         15  bring up is around the school-age transfer, is that

         16  we all seem to have accepted that 11 agencies are

         17  having their contracts moved from ACS to DYCD, and

         18  yet that there is a planning process that's

         19  underway, and as an organization that has pushed

         20  very hard that there needed to be a planning process

         21  before there were any decisions made about where

         22  services belonged, under whose agency's auspices,

         23  what they should look like. There are probably some

         24  very critical decisions that are being made now that

         25  will affect all of the future decisions about
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          2  school-age care. By moving 11 agencies, they're

          3  making some decisions about what should happen with

          4  school-age services. We don't understand why you

          5  would go ahead and make that transfer before the

          6  decisions had been made about what is happening with

          7  school-age child care services across the board.

          8                 Some of what we've heard that they're

          9  talking about these programs will not have to charge

         10  fees, that there will be none of the eligibility

         11  requirements, they're not going to have to submit

         12  the same forms - on the face of it it sounds like a

         13  positive step forward, but until we look at all the

         14  implications about what it means that they're going

         15  to no longer be collecting fees, how is priority

         16  going to be determined for a very limited service,

         17  we're not talking about expanding full-day -- after

         18  school programs that operate full year, these are

         19  all really critical questions that I think we need

         20  to really think about. So I'm concerned that that

         21  strategy is moving forward.

         22                 The other piece that we really did

         23  not spend much time on at all, because it seems like

         24  an administrative issue, is the transfer of

         25  eligibility determination from ACS to HRA. One of
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          2  the things that we understand is that there is a

          3  move on the part of the City to consolidate the

          4  child care services at HRA, and the child care

          5  services at ACS, under ACS.

          6                 We applaud that as a positive step

          7  forward in creating a more unified approach to child

          8  care and assuring that ultimately that families have

          9  easier access, that you have a standard of quality

         10  of services across the board.

         11                 We don't understand why if that is a

         12  plan that's underway, that there would be a prior

         13  decision made to lift out the eligibility

         14  determination and move it over to HRA, without a

         15  clear commitment to what the goals and objectives

         16  are.

         17                 I mean, we applaud the efforts that

         18  are now underway to take a look at how to streamline

         19  eligibility. Some of the questions you asked about

         20  earlier with regard to parents calling 3-1-1, what

         21  does a parent have to do to actually get on that

         22  certified list? Do they really need to come to a

         23  resource area? What can be done on the phone? How do

         24  you simplify that application? How are you sure that

         25  parents get the supportive information that they
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          2  need? How are we sure that eligibility is determined

          3  in a timely fashion?

          4                 We are now separating enrollment

          5  ineligibility determination, and leaving potentially

          6  a big void in between as to who is responsible for

          7  what pieces of this.

          8                 If we're talking about moving staff

          9  from here to here, that doesn't change the way the

         10  system works.

         11                 Council Member Brewer identified the

         12  need to look at technology; why do we have a child

         13  care system right now in which every single child

         14  care agency doesn't have immediate access to the

         15  data and information about families who were on that

         16  certified list, or the City doesn't have immediate

         17  information, not with people filling out forms, I

         18  mean we are operating in the dark ages still. People

         19  are filling out forms and having to take them down

         20  to ACS, et cetera.

         21                 So that the issue really is how to

         22  streamline that process, not how to shift from A to

         23  B. And, so, we would really urge the City Council to

         24  take a very careful look at why is this happening

         25  now?
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          2                 Again, this was a process that was

          3  supposed to save money. We now heard that the City

          4  is not assuring, has no indication that it's going

          5  to save money and in fact they need to spend money

          6  to improve the eligibility process.

          7                 So I think that those are a couple of

          8  the areas that we'd like to highlight for you to go

          9  forward, to say that we are ready to work with you

         10  in whatever way possible and that we really

         11  appreciate the support and commitment and

         12  tenaciousness of the City Council around issues that

         13  affect the children of the City.

         14                 MS. ANTHONY: Good afternoon. My name

         15  is Andrea Anthony, I'm Executive Director of the Day

         16  Care Council of New York. The Day Care Council is

         17  the membership organization for publicly-funded

         18  child care centers. We have 250 organizations that

         19  sponsor 360 child care centers in all five boroughs.

         20                 As the Commissioner was talking about

         21  the labor contract, it is the Day Care Council that

         22  sits across the table from the union in negotiating

         23  that contract. It is the Day Care Council that has a

         24  team of 12 individuals from the sponsoring boards

         25  that work with the union on that contract.
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          2                 The union has been absolutely

          3  wonderful. They have come to all meetings, they have

          4  tried to adhere to this whole idea of coming of

          5  productivity enhancement, but there are none. If you

          6  look at the configuration of a child care center,

          7  you have classrooms with three professionals, a

          8  certified teacher and his assistant teacher, and a

          9  part-time aide. How can you cut a classroom when you

         10  have, for three-year-olds, you have about 18

         11  children in that classroom? So, the productivity

         12  enhancements, I'm not sure what the Commissioner

         13  thinks that we can come up with, but there aren't

         14  any. But I just had to bring that point up, I just

         15  could not phantom, as Mike Green did say, we did

         16  have a negotiation, they did put a proposal on the

         17  table, and they haven't come back with an answer. We

         18  cannot negotiate without money, no money has been

         19  put on the table, the only response we've had was

         20  please come up with some productivity enhancements,

         21  and there are none in that contract.

         22                 The other issue, in addition to the

         23  labor contract, I wanted to bring up to the City

         24  Council is that keep in mind when we talk about the

         25  labor contract that we're talking about workers who
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          2  are caring for approximately 40,000 children, and

          3  those workers are black and Hispanic women who also

          4  have families and they're caring for young children

          5  in our communities, and we need to try our best to

          6  provide them with an adequate salary increase, and

          7  those teachers are certified. We want certified

          8  teachers because we want quality in those

          9  classrooms, but we don't have that if we don't have

         10  certified teachers.

         11                 I did a survey about three years ago

         12  looking at the system, and I plan to conduct one

         13  again within the next month because I need that data

         14  as I go forward with the negotiations.

         15                 When I looked at the system of the

         16  400 directors, about 80 percent were certified. It

         17  was directors in the centers that were keeping the

         18  doors open. They were using their license to keep

         19  the doors open, because we did not have enough

         20  certified teachers in the classroom.

         21                 Secondly, the transfer after school

         22  funding from ACS to DYCD concerns us because we have

         23  no indication that the services for very young

         24  children for those aged six years up to 12 years

         25  will be maintained at the current level. I did
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          2  attend a meeting this morning with ACS and the 11

          3  agencies whose contracts are being transferred, many

          4  of the things that Nancy Kolben just highlighted was

          5  discussed with the agencies, for as she indicated,

          6  without even being at the meeting, it is still

          7  unclear what's going to happen January 1. In fact,

          8  they are supposed to have their budget 100 percent.

          9  They are supposed to have a 100 percent budget, no

         10  fees, but some of the policy -- these policy changes

         11  have not been decided as yet, and DYCD is willing

         12  and is going to meet with the agencies but it's

         13  still somewhat unclear as far as after the 18

         14  months, will we still have the same level of

         15  service, because they plan to issue a new RFP. And

         16  there is no guarantees that the agencies that now

         17  have the program will have it again. That's for any

         18  RFP, I'm not saying that all the agencies under the

         19  day care council membership, you know, should just

         20  keep their contracts, they should compete like

         21  everyone else, but there's no guarantee we're going

         22  to still have the same amount of slots.

         23                 And lastly, I concur and support what

         24  Nancy said about eligibility, parent eligibility.

         25  Why would we take the major gate-keeping function
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          2  from ACS and transfer it to HRA? Why would we do

          3  that? They have been charged, in law last year, we

          4  voted to have ACS as the agency to oversee children,

          5  the welfare of children, now we're going to take one

          6  of their vital functions away from them.  They will

          7  have the contracts with the agencies, they will not

          8  have any say or any voice in who gets into the

          9  system and how that is regulated. It makes

         10  absolutely no sense.

         11                 The last piece that the Commissioner

         12  highlighted was technology. There's very little

         13  technologies in the centers. They do not have

         14  computer access, Internet access, excuse me, or the

         15  computer equipment. The Day Care Council has donated

         16  computers through our member centers, used computers

         17  that we received from United Way. Most of them do

         18  not have Internet access or computers to really meet

         19  this demand, as it relates to parent eligibility or

         20  any service as we go down the road. They need more

         21  money in their budgets in order to do that.

         22                 Again, thank you so much to the

         23  General Welfare Committee and the Women's Issues

         24  Committee, we really do appreciate, you've given us

         25  the opportunity to bring these issues to your
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          2  attention.

          3                 MS. ANDERSON: I'm Candice Anderson.

          4  I'm the Senior Policy Associate at Citizens'

          5  Committee for Children of New York.  We're a

          6  59-year-old advocacy organization that seeks to

          7  promote the well-being of children and families in

          8  New York City.

          9                 I'll be brief because my colleagues

         10  covered a lot of the points that are concerns of the

         11  Citizens' Committee for Children.

         12                 I first want to commend you for

         13  trying to sort out the complexities of the child

         14  care system. We're heard a lot of numbers today, in

         15  terms of the number of children who are on the

         16  waiting list, from 38,000 to 50,000 children, to the

         17  number of surplus funds that have become available

         18  as a part of the child care block grant, be it $50

         19  million to $80 million. I think what it comes down

         20  to is that it is critical that given the surplus

         21  funds that we have, that additional child care slots

         22  be made available for the incredible number of

         23  children who are in need of them. Their parents need

         24  to work, they need a safe and educational place to

         25  spend their day, and I'd like to thank you for the
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          2  work that the City Council has done to try and make

          3  this possible.

          4                 Regarding the eligibility transfer,

          5  we're concerned that there will be more difficulty

          6  for parents who are in need of child care, and one

          7  point that I want to highlight is that we certainly

          8  hope that the eligibility process will not take

          9  place in job centers, as is currently done by HRA,

         10  but is better linked to the child care resource and

         11  referral agencies and community-based organizations

         12  that have a connection with the communities from

         13  which children and families come from.

         14                 They are also better equipped with

         15  appropriate staffing and up-to-date technologies,

         16  which will ensure expedient processing.

         17                 We'd also like to urge you to ensure

         18  that any plan maintains or expands venues and times

         19  when enrollment is conducted by tailoring needs to

         20  work with parents, eliminating this unnecessary

         21  requirement for face-to-face enrollment and

         22  recertification and developing a process for

         23  facilitative enrollment.

         24                 We also like to see a plan that

         25  enables the more efficient management of the waiting
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          2  list, and reduction in vacancies, as they currently

          3  exist now.

          4                 When it comes to the transfer of

          5  school-age child care from ACS to DYCD, originally

          6  there were three major goals that the City sought to

          7  accomplish and it was first to streamline the

          8  administration of out-of-school time programs for

          9  children aged six to 13, to reap a $15 million

         10  savings in 2004, and to continue to serve all

         11  children receiving school-aged child care at the

         12  same level of quality.

         13                 Important points to remember as the

         14  City moves forward is that streamlining is essential

         15  to making sure that there is a unified system of

         16  child care for kids six to 13, which certainly would

         17  not mean moving a portion of school-aged child care

         18  to DYCD while the remainder of care for those kids

         19  at those age remains at ACS or any other agency,

         20  that any restructuring include ACS, the Department

         21  of Education, Department of Parks so that there is

         22  really a genuinely coordinated effort among these

         23  agencies to serve children of these ages.

         24                 In addition, as it relates to the

         25  out-of-school time, summit and planning process, we
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          2  certainly hope that the City's implementation time

          3  line for the transfer of school-age child care is

          4  directly linked to that planning process.

          5                 City agencies, the philanthropic and

          6  business communities, providers and parents who have

          7  participated in this process, are committed to

          8  coming out with a plan for out-of-school time

          9  services by April of 2004. So, to move ahead with

         10  the program and to begin the first phase-in in

         11  January of 2004 seems to us like moving, putting the

         12  cart before the horse.

         13                 There are a couple of principles also

         14  as we go forward that are of concern to us.

         15                 We'd like to make sure that parents

         16  have access to the full range of categories and

         17  types of providers from which to choose care.

         18  Currently families can choose from center-based

         19  group family, family child care programs, and

         20  non-profit and for-profit child care programs. And

         21  we'd like to make sure that those children who are

         22  currently being served through a child development

         23  block fund money continue to have those options.

         24                 There also needs to be a plan for

         25  informing families of service changes. I think that
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          2  lessons learned from the Department of Education

          3  Leave No Child Behind Act, and in terms of the

          4  availability of services can certainly be

          5  instrumental in creating a plan that will provide

          6  for successful outreach to families.

          7                 And lastly, we would hope that the

          8  plan includes some sort of a targeted initiative to

          9  ensure that the youngest children, aged six to

         10  eight, are in appropriate settings, that their

         11  standardization of program requirements by age of

         12  child, and that a mechanism is provided to ensure

         13  appropriate interactions between children of

         14  different age groups.

         15                 And then lastly, touching on the

         16  child care workforce, we urge both the City Council

         17  and the Mayor to work to reach a settlement with DC

         18  1707, because we certainly know how important the

         19  child care workforce is to ensuring high quality

         20  care.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MS. KOLBEN: I just want to add very

         23  quickly that a number of our colleagues were not

         24  able to be with us today. You've heard jointly from

         25  many of us, including the Agenda for Children
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          2  Tomorrow, the Federation of Protestant Welfare

          3  Agencies, United Way and United Neighborhood Houses,

          4  who are not here today, as well as my colleagues

          5  here, we've talked through a lot of these issues and

          6  we share this consistent point of view and concerns

          7  about each of these issues.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

          9  Nancy.

         10                 I think Council Member Reyna had

         11  questions, but Candice I guess in her thorough

         12  presentation, covered most of them. So, I think

         13  Council Member Stewart had a question, and then

         14  we'll take a last question.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes. Thank

         16  you, Madam Chair.

         17                 I just wanted to know, I don't know

         18  if you were here earlier when we were talking about

         19  36,000 on the waiting list, and according to

         20  Commissioner Bell, he was mainly concerned about

         21  trying to reduce that 3,700 spot that's available,

         22  trying to fill those slots. He wasn't so concerned

         23  about the 36,000, just mainly the 3,000 slots that

         24  were unfilled.

         25                 I want to know what thing that you
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          2  would recommend that we do to reduce the 36,000

          3  folks that are on the waiting list. I'm concerned

          4  about that because I feel even if you take your

          5  3,000, there's still 36,000 people out there that

          6  are waiting, and it appears to me that that 36,000,

          7  there would be people in there who would never get a

          8  chance to be served.

          9                 So, if you have recommendation, what

         10  recommendation do you have so that we can try to

         11  reduce those 36,000?

         12                 MS. KOLBEN: This is an issue that

         13  doesn't have a simple answer. One of the reasons

         14  that, one of the many reasons that we've been so

         15  concerned about all the supplantation of money

         16  that's gone on for the past several years, is that

         17  we have not seen an expansion of child care services

         18  in the community that are funded with public

         19  dollars.

         20                 There's going to have to be more

         21  federal and state money, there's going to have to be

         22  an increased investment of City money. There's no

         23  simple solution because the services are beyond the

         24  ability of parents to pay and increasingly beyond

         25  the ability of parents to pay. We have to continue
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          2  to an increased program by universal pre-K, we need

          3  a mix of public education dollars and child care

          4  dollars and local dollars and federal and state

          5  dollars. We're all going to have to join together to

          6  be sure that we build those resources wherever

          7  that's possible.

          8                 And, so, for example, there's a

          9  connect between what happens in the education

         10  finance discussions that are going on now about what

         11  happened with the lawsuit, what dollars are

         12  available, because one piece of that is early

         13  childhood services.

         14                 So, we've got to be working on all

         15  fronts, otherwise -- we've had this waiting list in

         16  New York City for so long, that some of us are kind

         17  of like, you know, it like rolls off your tongue in

         18  ways that it should not. You know, other localities,

         19  they have ten families on a waiting list, they're

         20  having an anxiety attack about what to do, and

         21  people get mobilized, we need to really mobilize.

         22  This is not acceptable.

         23                 And those 36,000 families on the

         24  waiting list, if there was any announcement that

         25  there was new money available, that list would go up
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          2  dramatically. Not because families -- because many

          3  families have given up. They don't even go to apply

          4  because the word in the community is it's going to

          5  be a wait forever.

          6                 And one of the issues that we haven't

          7  talked about at all here is how acute that shortage

          8  of care is for babies, for infants and toddlers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: No, I agree

         10  with you. But I feel that all of us have to change

         11  our mindset, and I've been saying this for quite a

         12  long time, that we consider anyone that is under the

         13  age of let's say, three, four, under the age of

         14  four, we don't really recognize them in that they're

         15  our children too, because we make available monies

         16  for public education for anyone that is over the age

         17  of four, we provide transportation, we provide every

         18  single thing that you can find for anyone between

         19  the age of four and 18. And based on that, I feel

         20  that the children under the age of four are our

         21  children too, and if we were thinking the same, if

         22  we change our mindset on anything that we talk

         23  about, we wouldn't go through all this problem.

         24  We're saying Leave No Child Behind, but when we talk

         25  about leave no child behind, we're only talking
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          2  about a child that's four and a half and above.

          3                 MS. KOLBEN: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, what

          5  happened to children that is under the age of four

          6  and a half? If we change our mindset, if we start

          7  thinking differently saying they're all our

          8  children, they need to get the same kind of

          9  education, I feel we should move on, start from the

         10  age from the early childhood onward. And if we

         11  change that and start promoting in that way, I think

         12  eventually everybody will catch on and we won't have

         13  this problem.

         14                 MS. ANTHONY: We want to join you in

         15  that campaign. We recognize children under four

         16  years old, but let me just reiterate again, we also

         17  are very concerned with the quality that goes on in

         18  that classroom. Our Health Code stipulates that we

         19  should have certified teachers. We have to pay

         20  certified teachers. The teachers that are publicly

         21  from the system are not on par with the teachers in

         22  the Department of Education. They are paid less. So,

         23  while we expand and give families that great

         24  opportunity to have child care, let's make sure we

         25  pay the staff to make sure learning is going on in
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          2  that classroom.

          3                 We do not want the same thing to

          4  happen to them that's happening to the children in

          5  the children in the education system now. We want

          6  them to get real learning so that when they go to

          7  the Department of Education, they will be able to,

          8  you know, sell their name and know that they are

          9  cared for in our community.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, the

         11  concept here is that whatever you're being paid at

         12  the Board of Education, everything should be the

         13  same. Same concept. That's what I'm talking about.

         14  They're saying that you're paying someone less, I'm

         15  saying that everybody, we should categorize it and

         16  have a child that is at the age of six, it's no

         17  better than a child at the age of two and a half,

         18  and our concern should be the same.

         19                 And as a matter of fact, it should be

         20  greater at the age of two and a half because that's

         21  the most vulnerable age that we should look at, and

         22  if we don't take care of them at the age of two, how

         23  can we talk about taking care of them at the age of

         24  16? And that's our point, is that we haven't, we

         25  will end up having them in jail.
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          2                 MS. ANTHONY: Good point, Councilman.

          3                 MS. ANDERSON: To answer your question

          4  about what we should be doing now to try and address

          5  the need for child care and the huge waiting list, I

          6  think it's imperative that we continue working

          7  together, particularly to make sure that this $80

          8  million in surplus child care funds, a substantial

          9  portion of that be used to enhance quality and

         10  improve the availability of child care.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         12  Candice. Thank you Council Member.

         13                 Council Member Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         15  much. I have some quick questions, as you can

         16  imagine, on the technology front.

         17                 If we are doing this separation, and,

         18  Nancy, you talked about eligibility and enrollment,

         19  and if in fact the second-hand United Way and if in

         20  fact there's no broad band, and if in fact it's hard

         21  to download a large document with the statistics and

         22  so on because you don't have the update software and

         23  so on and so forth, I just wanted to know, given

         24  what the Commissioner stated as to the 3-1-1 and the

         25  I&R, I do want to understand, just from your
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          2  perspective, obviously not the most important part

          3  of child care but it is a way in which we can make

          4  sure that some families get some services on a more

          5  timely basis, and hopefully the centers can also

          6  have a role in this.

          7                 I wanted to understand, listening to

          8  him, what your belief is as to what's going on

          9  currently? How is it integrating with your hot line,

         10  Nancy?

         11                 MS. KOLBEN: Well, both of us, both

         12  the Day Care Council and Child Care, Inc., share a

         13  database and work together in a collaborative way

         14  along with three other, three additional

         15  organizations. I think what we've seen is, quite

         16  frankly, the response to the Daily News articles --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Joanne

         18  Wasserman.

         19                 MS. KOLBEN: Joanne Wasserman.

         20  Generated an immediate response that led to some

         21  things happening with 3-11 that represent, in our

         22  opinion, a modest improvement in the way things were

         23  before. People were calling up resource areas and

         24  not getting the phones answered because the resource

         25  areas didn't have staff, that in fact all of a
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          2  sudden there were computers available and training

          3  available to people that were answering the phones

          4  that would have otherwise taken months and months.

          5                 In fact, when I asked our parent

          6  counselors before I came to this hearing, they said

          7  people are -- the phone is being answered, and so in

          8  that sense things are a little bit better for

          9  parents, but mostly they're -- and they're not being

         10  told, you know, the waiting list is so long, don't

         11  even bother. But in fact, they're being put on this,

         12  you know, non-certified waiting list, and so they're

         13  not getting any more access to services, but things

         14  have taken a small step forward, at least in our

         15  experience. I don't know what you've been hearing,

         16  Andrea.

         17                 MS. ANTHONY: As Nancy said, the Day

         18  Care Council is the Child Resource Referral Agency,

         19  too, as well as the Committee for Children and

         20  Families, the Chinese American Planning Council and

         21  Child Development Support Corporation in Brooklyn.

         22                 We share the same database, but I

         23  haven't heard anything any differently than Nancy.

         24  It does concern me how our agencies or any child

         25  care center, those who are not publicly funded,
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          2  those private centers, how they're going to access

          3  or receive referrals from the 3-1-1 database.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, I

          5  will follow up on that. But I just wanted to say

          6  that we're certainly willing to work with you on

          7  figuring out the best platform software, field

          8  office, et cetera.

          9                 MS. KOLBEN: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: This is not

         11  unique to child care, this 3-1-1 integration of

         12  already existing non-profit I&R.

         13                 MS. KOLBEN: Yes, I just wanted to --

         14  I didn't really respond to that and I think that we

         15  have an opportunity now that we should not miss, and

         16  that is that ideally the City of New York, working

         17  with the R&R agencies and other folks in the

         18  community, should be accessing one very high quality

         19  database with correct, complete up-to-date

         20  information, four or five different agencies and

         21  organizations should not be updating, trying to keep

         22  on top of this bahumuth (sic) and you've heard me

         23  many times talk about it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         25                 MS. KOLBEN: There's an opportunity to
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          2  use technology now to make all of that happen, and

          3  that technology has to be linked into the early

          4  childhood programs in the community.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

          6                 MS. KOLBEN: It's hard to imagine. I

          7  mean, we can't e-mail folks.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Let's work on

          9  it.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. KOLBEN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         13  ladies. You've been very informative and I hope that

         14  in the near future we can begin to work on some

         15  solutions to all of the concerns that we have. We

         16  appreciate your input. And to my colleagues, thank

         17  you, all. This hearing is adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 4:10 p.m.)
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